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Board of Directors 

BHEKOKUHLE SIBIYA (63) 

MBA 
Independent non-executive Board Chairman 

Board Chairman responsibilities includes ultimate 
responsibility for providing for the solid and ethical 
leadership and strategic guidance of the Group 
by ensuring that the principles of good corporate 
governance underpin all that is done in the group and 
decisions made. 

Member of the Audit Committee 

Member of the Remuneration Committee 

Member of the Social and Ethics Committee

Bhekokuhle has served on numerous boards of both 
listed and non-listed companies and was the CEO of 
the Chamber of Mines. Mr Sibiya obtained his MBA 
from Western Michigan University.

MARCEL NAUDE (32) 

CA(SA) 
Chief financial officer (executive director) 

Marcel has experience in industries ranging 
from mining (gold and platinum), oil and gas and 
manufacturing. Over this period, Mr Naudé obtained 
significant experience in JSE Listings Requirements, 
the Companies Act, financial reporting and internal 
controls. 

LEE MCCANN (40)

MBA
Chief Executive Officer

Before Lee was appointed as CEO he served as 
the Director of New Business Development at Sail 
Group. Lee joined the group in early 2014 as Head of 
Trading where he was soon appointed as a director. 
Prior to joining the group, Lee spent over 6 years as a 
Market Analyst managing a wide range of marketing 
processes and projects at Xstrata. With over 12 
years of experience in the commodity trading and 
resources space, Lee brings a wealth of knowledge, 
skill and experience. Lee has an MBA and a B Com 
Hons Degree in Business Management

LOUIS JORDAAN (50) 

CA(SA) 
Independent non-executive director 

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 

Responsibilities include Ensuring the financial 
sustainability of the Group by monitoring and 
reviewing financial controls and risk management 
procedures, as well as the effectiveness and integrity 
of internal audit and control systems. The audit 
committee is also responsible for the appointment of 
the independent, external auditor and the oversight of 
regulatory and legislative compliance.

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 

Member of the Social and Ethics Committee

As part of the Remuneration Committee 
responsibilities include ensuring that there are fair 
payment rewards to attract, retain and motivate 
skilled and experienced executive management. 

Louis has more than 20 years of experience of the 
highest international standard.

His experience extends across multiple industries 
and varied organisation sizes, with a focus on 
financial services and emerging markets.

BOARD MEMBERS 
The following board members were members at the date of this integrated report. 

NOKUTHULA THOMAS (45) 

Independent non-executive director Chair of Social 
Ethics Committee 

Supports and assist the board in ensuring that 
social responsibility is prioritized by the board and 
executive management. Ensures that best practice 
recommendations are followed in relation to the 
ethical conduct of stakeholder engagement and 
oversees and monitors anti-corruption mechanisms 
in the group and compliance with the UNGC. 

Member of the Audit Committee Member of the 
Remuneration Committee 

Nokuthula has almost 20 years of experience in 
media relations, investor relations and corporate 
communications. Ms. Thomas’ experience extends 
across listed and non-listed companies as well as 
the education sector. She studied towards a BA in 
Communications and has a post-graduate certificate 
in Executive Leadership. 
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ ACCOUNTABILITY AND COMMITMENT 
The Board acknowledges their responsibility to ensure the integrity of the integrated report and their responsibilities in relation to good 
governance, ethical leadership and responsible corporate citizenship.

The Board, supported by the Audit and Risk Committee, has ultimate responsibility for this integrated report and for overseeing and 
ensuring the integrity and completeness of the information presented. The Board has applied their collective mind to the preparation and 
presentation of the integrated report and believes that the information presented in this report represents the fair and transparent view of 
the Chrometco Group. 

The board approved the release of this integrated report to stakeholders on 17 August 2020.

About this report
The purpose of this report

The purpose of this report is to provide insight into Chrometco 
Groups performance for the financial year ended 29 February 2020, 
in terms of its social, environmental, economic and financial impact. 

This integrated report, considered and/or complied with the 
following regulatory requirements and reporting guidelines:

• King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 
(King IV);

• JSE Listings Requirements (JSE LR);

• The Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (the Companies 
Act); 

• International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); 

• The laws of establishment; and

• Chrometco’s Memorandum of Incorporation.

We report on those matters we consider to be most material to 
Chrometco’s operational, financial and strategic performance. The 
aim of our integrated approach is to enable investors and other 
stakeholders , including government, local communities and our 
employees, to make a better informed assessment of the value of 
Chrometco. 

It should be noted that Chrometco is currently a relatively small 
group with early stage mineral exploration and mining activities, few 
employees and a small number of public stakeholders. Accordingly, 
the size and nature of the group’s operations limit the extent to 
which the company has a significant impact on the social and 
natural environment in which it operates. 

To the extent possible, Chrometco remains committed to ensuring 
that it operates in a socially responsible manner and remains an 
upstanding corporate citizen and continues to grow its social 
responsibility contribution as the company grows, this can be seen 
in our Social and Ethics Committee Report. 

Section 1 of the report addresses the strategy, vision, prospects 
and an overview of the operational performance of the group. 

Section 2 focuses on accountability, compliance and transparency. 

Section 3 contains a detailed insight into the group and company's 
financial performance, position and information. 

We are constantly engaged in improving our reporting and are 
constantly endeavouring to include additional relevant information 
to assist stakeholders in understanding the group’s performance. 

Who we are
Chrometco Limited (“Chrometco” or “the Group”) is a minerals 
miner and exploration Group with prospects in the Limpopo 
province of the Republic of South Africa. Chrometco is 
primarily involved in the acquisition and exploration of mineral 
resources, production and sale of Chrome ore. 
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Joint Chairman’s and 
CEO’s statement 

Dear Stakeholders,

On behalf of your board of directors, we are pleased to present 
the joint chairman’s and CEO’s statement for the year ended 
29 February 2020.

The Group and the rest of the mining industry was faced with 
numerous challenges during the past year. Despite all the 
challenges the Group faced, we still managed to make significant 
strategic and financial headway. 

IMPACT OF COVID-19
On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organization declared the 
Corona virus (COVID-19) a global health emergency. The South 
African national lockdown became effective at midnight on 26 
March 2020 and lasted until 30 April 2020, before we could continue 
operations.

The Group obtained permission from the DRME to operate from 
26 March 2020 but opted to only operate surface mining and 
processing operations. This decision was taken as a precaution to 
ensure that all required protocols were implemented to ensure the 
health and safety of our employees. It should be noted that despite 
the challenging economic circumstances the country is facing, 
we were still able to pay our employees full salaries for these two 
months.

Underground production at Black Chrome Mine was in care and 
maintenance for the entire five-week April lockdown period. To 
make up for the lost production the following measures were 
implemented:

• the December break replaces 10 days of the first lockdown; and

• the production lost during the second lockdown period will be 
made up by working back one full weekend every month for the 
remaining seven months of the year.

Additionally, the Group implemented various protocols to reduce 
the COVID-19-related health and safety risks.

The industry has historically had a difficult relationship with labour. 
The Group successfully concluded a two-year wage agreement with 
AMCU in December 2018 to stabilise its mining operations. 

In 2019, wage negotiations with AMCU resulted in an average 
increase of 9% for the mine employees, amidst the declining 
chrome price and the high retrenchments which have been seen in 
the industry. 

MARKET
The market for chrome is a volatile industry, with erratic ups and 
downs. This has affected the price received for the sale of product, 
both positively and negatively. Whilst this inherently has both a 
positive and a negative impact, it does make forecasting of capital 
and working capital challenging. Management has responded to 
this challenge by implementing strict cost control measures to 
ensure that the Group always has sufficient cash flows available 
to meet its obligations as they become due. Additionally, the 
worldwide lockdown resulted in a shortfall of chrome supply 
causing an increase in the chrome price.

STRATEGIC
We are proud and excited to announce that in the 2020 financial 
year, the construction of the first phase of the processing plant 
was completed. The first phase of the processing plant was 
commissioned in November 2019 and is busy ramping up to a 
steady state. Construction on the second phase of the processing 
plant, continues.

The construction of the plant started towards the end of the 
2019 financial year and has been a vigorous capital-intensive 
project which we expect will boost the group’s performance and 
yield high returns. 

Additionally, the Group started leasing sorters to screen chips and 
lumpy stockpiles which has yielded additional revenue for the group 
and contributes to the positive outlook which we have as the 
management and the board. 

ACTIVITIES 
During the year Chrometco’s focus included the construction and 
operation of the processing plant. The gross profit of R208.1 million 
is split between revenue from the sale of chrome before processing 
and revenue from the sale of processed chrome ore. During 2019 
the total gross profit of R266.2 million was generated due to the 
sale of ore before processing.

The Black Chrome Operations’ run of mine production continued 
at a steady state of 90 000 tonnes per month throughout the year, 
which is consistent with the prior year’s production levels. 

The Group continues to develop the Black Chrome Mine in line with 
the mine plan. 

Rooderand is still under care and maintenance and classified as 
a disposal group held for sale. An offer to purchase the assets 
and liabilities was received and the transaction is expected to be 
concluded within the next 12 months.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
Although marred by the low chrome price during the latter part 
of the year, the Group’s results indicate significant improvement 
in this year’s results compared to the prior year. The Group’s 
revenue decreased by 11% to R1.1 billion and generated cash 
from operating activities of R223.2m (2019: R276.0m). The Group 
incurred a loss for the year of R95.9m (2019: R138.6m) which was 
mainly due to the lower average chrome price during the latter part 
of the year. 

As at 29 February 2020, the Group’s current liabilities exceed its 
current assets by R450.2m (2019: R180.7m). Of the trade payables, 
R263m (2019: R306m) is payable to Sail International Marketing Pte 
Ltd (previously known as BBA Resources Pte Ltd), a related party, 
and the terms of payment are currently under negotiation in order to 
improve the liquidity position of the Group.
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CHANGES TO THE BOARD 
The group identified suitably qualified potential candidates 
internally to serve as the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and have 
appointed Mr Lee McCann to serve as the CEO of the group. 

We are proud to have a new member of such calibre added to the 
board and we look forward to the CEO’s contribution. 

There have been no additional board changes in addition to the 
appointment of the CEO. 

OUTLOOK 
Over the next 12 months, the Group will continue to focus on the 
Black Chrome Mine operation. Additional focus will be placed on 
the ramping up of the processing plant. 

Due to the current increased chrome price together with the 
weakening of the Rand against the US Dollar the Group is expecting 
an increase in profitability for the coming financial year.

CONCLUSION 
The Group has seen some encouraging development over the 
past few years. Management’s focus will be on streamlining and 
normalising the business as it currently stands. 

In the end, however, it is the support of the shareholders that 
provides the board and management with the necessary 
confidence to pursue the company’s strategy. It is therefore to be 
hoped that the efforts of the past year will in due course adequately 
reward shareholders for their support. 

Bheki Sibiya Lee McCann 
Chairman CEO 

17 August 2020  17 August 2020 
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Mineral reserves statement 

There have been no material changes to the Mineral Reserves and 
Resources Statement subsequent to the statement disclosed in the 
previous Annual Report relating to the year ended 28 February 2018, 
published on the Group’s website (www.chrometco.co.za).

Based on the measured reserve and the mineral resource, the life of 
mine is estimated to be 11 years, if the production levels continue at the 
current rate of approximately 90 000 tonnes per month. 
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Corporate governance 

The responsibility for managing the Group’s affairs in accordance 
with the principals and recommended practices as set out in the 
King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 
(King IV) rests with the Board. The Board and all directors are 
required to maintain the highest standards of integrity to ensure 
that Chrometco’s business affairs are conducted responsibly and in 
the interests of both the Group and its stakeholders. The Board and 
individual directors accept their duty and responsibility to ensure that 
the principles set out in King IV are observed and are committed to 
the highest level of corporate governance and the implementation of 
effective structures, policies and practices that improve corporate 
governance and create sustainable value for our shareholders and 
other stakeholders.
The Board of Directors continues to subscribe to the values of good 
corporate governance as set out in King IV and are committed to 
the ongoing application of corporate governance best practices 
in the conduct of the Group’s business. We are committed to 
conducting a gap analysis on an ongoing basis to assess the 
Group’s compliance level in respect of King IV, identifying areas that 
require improvement. Gaps, if any, are addressed through action 
plans and regular monitoring and reporting to the appropriate 
governance structures.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group complies in all material 
respects with the principles embodied in King IV and the additional 
requirements for corporate governance stipulated by the JSE.  

Disclosure in this annual report demonstrates the Group’s 
commitment to apply the principles of King IV, as well as the actual 
compliance achieved. 
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Corporate governance   (continued)

BOARD ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUTHORITY
The general powers of the directors of Chrometco are conferred 
either by the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) or 
by the Companies Act of South Africa, as amended, or in terms of 
the JSE Listings Requirements. The Board has adopted a charter 
through which it controls and monitors the Group’s business. 

The charter outlines the following major responsibilities: 

• Determining the strategic direction of the Group. 

• Retaining full and effective control of the Group and monitoring 
the management’s implementation of Board plans and 
strategies. 

• Identification and monitoring of key risk areas to ensure the 
integrity of managing risk and internal control. 

• Appointing directors in terms of the Group’s policy and 
procedures. 

• Appointing a Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

• Establishing a framework for delegation of authority and 
responsibilities to the executive directors. 

• Managing conflicts of interest. 

• Cultivating an ethical corporate culture. 

• Maintaining succession plans at executive level. 

• Any other matters that have a material impact on the Group’s 
affairs. 

While retaining overall accountability and subject to matters 
reserved for the Board, the Board has delegated authority to run 
the day-to-day affairs of the Group to the Executive Directors. The 
executive directors have overall responsibility for implementing the 
Group’s strategy, which is determined by the Board.

Audit and risk, social and ethics and remuneration and nomination 
committees assist the Board in discharging its duties and 
responsibilities. All committees act under their respective terms 
of reference, through which certain functions of the Board are 
assigned with defined purposes, membership requirements, duties 
and reporting procedures. The Board believes that the evaluation 
of performance should currently be performed by Acorim (Pty) 
Ltd. Board committees are also required to be reviewed by the 
Board. Board committees may take independent professional 
advice at the Group’s expense, when necessary. Chairman of the 
Board committees, or their representatives, are required to attend 
annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions. 

BOARD COMPOSITION 
The board has adopted a policy on the promotion of broader 
diversity on the board, focusing not only on gender and race 
but also on the promotion of other diversity attributes such as 
culture, age, field of knowledge, skills and experience. In line with 
these policies, when considering new appointments to the Board, 
preference will be given to appropriate candidates who meet the 
skills, expertise, experience and background required to fill such 
position. 

The names and brief résumé of the directors in office appear on 
page 3 of this annual report.

There are integrated procedures for appointments to the Board. 
All appointments are formal and transparent, and a matter for the 
Board as a whole, assisted by the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee which reports to the Board.

At 29 February 2020, the Board had a unitary structure that 
comprised four members (2019: four members). The fifth member 
was appointed on 8 May 2020.

The composition of the Board is as follows: three independent non-
executive directors (including the Chairman) and two executive 
directors. 

The majority of directors (3) are non-executive directors, all of 
whom are independent. 

The Group recognises that Board diversity maximises opportunities 
to achieve business success and endeavours to promote the 
development of women with demonstrated leadership abilities for 
Board positions over a 3 (three) to 5 (five) year period.

INDEPENDENCE 
The independent non-executive directors meet the test of 
independence as embodied in King IV and in the JSE Listings 
Requirements. All non-executive directors are individuals of 
high calibre and make a significant contribution to the Board’s 
deliberations. 

Non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-day business 
of the Group nor are they full-time salaried employees of the Group. 
Non-executive directors also do not hold service contracts with the 
Group. At each board meeting the list of companies in which each 
director has an interest is shared to identify any possible conflict of 
interest. 

BOARD EVALUATION 
Directors are apprised, whenever relevant, of any new legislation 
and changing commercial risks that may affect the affairs of the 
Group. 

The directors believe the board has operated effectively and that 
the governance process and practices are appropriate for the 
nature and complexity of the business. 
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Corporate governance   (continued)

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS 
The Board meets at least four times a year to discuss and review 
issues of strategy, planning, operational and financial performance, 
stakeholder communications and other material matters reserved 
for its decision. Further operational meetings are held as required. 
An agenda, the minutes of the previous meeting and supporting 
papers are distributed to all directors prior to each Board meeting, 
giving them sufficient time to consider matters for discussion. 

Non-executive directors are available to management at all times 
when required and attended several non-Board meetings during the 
year. During the review period (1 March 2019 to 29 February 2020), 
the Board formally met five times, with the Group’s designated 
advisor and Secretary present. 

Director
Meetings

held/attended

B Sibiya* (Chairman) 5/6

M Naude (CFO) 6/6

L McCann (CEO) 0/6

L Jordaan* 6/6

N Thomas* 5/6

* Denotes independent non-executive

Where directors are unable to attend Board meetings for any 
reason, every effort is made to obtain and communicate to the 
meeting their comments on agenda items, as well as general 
items. Explanations and motivations for items of business 
requiring decisions are given in the meeting, ensuring that all the 
relevant facts and circumstances are brought to the attention of 
directors. Directors have unrestricted access to all Group property 
and records and are kept fully informed of progress on matters 
between formal meetings by way of ad hoc meetings and regular 
communications. Directors also have unrestricted access to the 
Group Secretary for advice and information. 

BOARD CHANGES 
The following changes to the Board took place during the year 
under review: 

• Mr L McCann was appointed as CEO on 8 May 2020

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer remain 
separate and distinct. The Chairman is responsible for running 
the Board, while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 
conducting the affairs of the Group. Consequently, no one individual 
at Board level has unfettered powers of decision-making. During 
the review period and at the date of this report, the Chairman can 
be considered an independent non-executive director as embodied 
in the King Code and JSE Listings Requirements. 

The executive directors do not have fixed-term service contracts 
with the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit and Risk, Social and Ethics and Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees have been constituted to assist the 
Board in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities. All 
committees act within their respective terms of reference, under 
which certain functions of the Board are assigned with defined 
purposes, membership requirements, duties and reporting 
procedures. They are required to carry out self-evaluations 
of their performance at least annually. Board committees are 
also required to be reviewed by the Board. 

Board committees may take independent professional advice at the 
Group’s expense when necessary.

Chairmen of the Board Committees, or their representatives, are 
required to attend all general meetings to answer questions raised 
by shareholders. The Board is satisfied that the Board Committees 
set out below have effectively discharged their responsibilities 
as contained in their respective terms of reference for the year 
under review. A description of each Board Committee, and details 
of attendance and membership of the Committees is set out below. 

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

Director
Meetings

held/attended

L Jordaan* (Chairman) 5/5

B Sibiya* 5/5

N Thomas* 4/5

* Denotes independent non-executive

The primary role of the Audit and Risk Committee is to ensure the 
integrity of financial reporting process and the audit process. A full 
report of the Committee is set out on page 34. 

The Committee, which must have a minimum of three members, 
consists exclusively of independent non-executive directors. 

The Committee meets at least twice each year with the quorum 
being two members. The Board has determined that the Chairman 
has the skills, qualifications and experience necessary to contribute 
meaningfully to the Committee’s deliberations. The Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the external auditors attend 
meetings by invitation. 

Each member has one vote and the Chairman has the casting vote. 
The terms of the Audit and Risk Committee are reviewed annually. 
The King Code recommends that the Chairman of the Board should 
not be a member of the Audit and Risk Committee. The changes 
to the board, the chairman of the board, Mr Sibiya, was required 
to be part of the Audit and Risk Committee to ensure that 
the Committee has at least three non-executive directors, all of 
which are independent. Although not fully compliant with King IV, 
the Board is committed to appointing a suitable independent 
non-executive director during the next year, who will be a member 
of the Audit and Risk Committee. Additionally, section 94 of the 
Companies Act of South Africa and the King Code recommends 
that the Audit Committee consists of at least three members. The 
Audit Committee obtains, at its discretion, the services of advisors, 
experts and specialists in order for it to appropriately consider all 
matters presented to it and to assist the Committee in executing its 
duties. 
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Corporate governance   (continued)

The Audit and Risk Committee’s duties mainly include: 

• assessing the Group’s relationship with the external auditors; 

• approval of all non-audit services to be provided by the 
external auditors; 

• presentation of financial statements and reports complying with 
all relevant corporate disclosure requirements and accounting 
standards; 

• reviewing any other announcement on the Group’s results 
or other financial information; 

• the identification of exposure to significant risks; 

• all corporate governance issues; 

• assessing the operation of adequate processes of internal 
control; and 

• approval of fees payable to external auditors for audit and non-
audit services; and 

• considering and satisfying itself of the appropriateness of the 
expertise and experience of the Chief Financial Officer; 

• assessing the independence and suitability of the external 
auditor and the designated individual partner; 

• considering the contents and findings contained in the JSE’s 
report back on proactive monitoring and, where/if necessary, 
ensuring that appropriate action is taken to apply the findings; 

• ensuring the sustainability of the Group by evaluating and 
overseeing the implementation of effective risk management 
processes and controls; 

• to identify, monitor and mitigate risks and; 

• to act on identified opportunities; 

In addition, the Committee considers any matters referred to it by 
the Board. The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board on 
its recommendations. 

Members complete a self-evaluation analysis of the Committee’s 
performance during the year. The Board will determine at its 
next meeting whether the Audit Committee has satisfied its 
responsibilities for the review period in compliance with its terms of 
reference. 

The Board is of the opinion that the external auditors observe the 
highest level of business and professional ethics and that their 
independence is not in any way impaired. 

The Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself as to the 
expertise and experience of the Chief Financial Officer during 
the current financial year. The Chairman of the Committee or his 
representative attends the AGM annually to address any questions 
that may be raised by shareholders and other stakeholders. 

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE 

Director
Meetings

held/attended

L Jordaan* (Chairman) 2/2

N Thomas* 2/2

B Sibiya* 2/2

* Denotes independent non-executive

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee, must have 
a minimum of three members, comprised of non-executive 
directors, with majority being independent. The Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee endeavours to meet at least twice per year, 
subject to necessity/requirement. No other senior executive may be 
present at meetings of the Committee when remuneration issues 
applicable to them are discussed or considered. A quorum for a 
meeting is two members present in person. Each member has one 
vote and the Chairman has no casting vote. The terms of reference 
of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee are reviewed 
annually.

The areas of responsibility of the Committee are an annual 
review of: 

• the salary package payable to any executive director and the 
Company Secretary; 

• the remuneration payable to directors and Board Committee 
members of the Group; 

• the remuneration payable to non-executive directors for 
services provided other than as a director; 

• the Group’s compliance with employment equity 
requirements; and 

• the Group’s commitment to gender diversity on the board. 

An additional responsibility of the Committee is the identifying and 
nominating of suitably qualified and experienced individuals for 
approval by the Board as additional directors or to fill any Board 
vacancies as they arise. The Chairman of the Committee reports 
to the Board on recommendations made by the Committee. The 
Committee also advises the Board on succession planning for 
the offices of Chairperson of the Board and Executive Directors. 
The Chairman of the Committee attends the AGM annually to 
address any questions that may be raised by shareholders and 
other stakeholders. In terms of King IV, the Chairman of the Board 
may not be the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 

The members of the Committee will complete a self-evaluation 
analysis of the Committee’s performance during the year. The 
Board will determine at a future meeting whether the Remuneration 
Committee has satisfied its responsibilities for the year under 
review in compliance with its terms of reference.
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Corporate governance   (continued)

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE 

Director
Meetings

held/attended

N Thomas* (Chairwoman) 2/2

B Sibiya* 2/2

L Jordaan* 2/2

* Denotes independent non-executive

The Social and Ethics Committee reviews and manages the Group’s 
commitment to: 

• social and economic development, including the principles 
of the UN Global Compact, Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment, Employment Equity and the OECD’s 
recommendations on corruption; 

• good corporate citizenship, including the promotion of 
equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, corporate social 
responsibility, ethical behaviour and managing environmental 
impacts; 

• consumer relations; 

• labour and employment, including skills development; and 

• transformation by, at the very least, ensuring compliance with 
the Employment Equity Act, the Mining Charter and the B-BBEE 
Codes of Good Practice. 

• The Social and Ethics Committee meets once per annum in 
accordance with its terms of reference. 

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

Composition of executive directors’ 
remuneration 

Basic salary 

Where the Remuneration and Nomination Committee determines 
that the composition of directors’ remuneration requires re-
assessment, executive directors’ salaries are reviewed annually by 
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and benchmarked 
against external market data considering the size and complexity of 
the Group and its operations. Individual performance and overall 
responsibility are also considered. The Chairman reviews the 
performance of the Chief Executive Officer annually. 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 
Where the Remuneration and Nomination Committee feels that 
it is necessary, the remuneration and fees of non-
executive directors are reviewed annually to ensure that they 
remain competitive and that they attract individuals of appropriate 
reputation and experience to the Board. Shareholders are required 
to approve the remuneration of non-executive directors in advance 
at the Annual General Meeting of the Group. 

Board committee fees 

The remuneration of Board Committee members is determined 
by the Board, as provided in the Memorandum of Incorporation. 
For the 2019/2020 financial year, the following rates of fees were 
applicable for the respective board members: 

Chairman of the Board 

R41 667/month 

Chairman of the Audit Committee 

R15 000/month 

Chairwoman of the Social and Ethics Committee 

R25 000/month 

Fees for services rendered other than as a director

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, non-executive 
directors who perform services outside the scope of the ordinary 
duties of a director may be paid additional remuneration. No 
payments have been made to non-executive directors other than 
board attendance fees. 

THE GROUP COMPANY SECRETARY 
The appointment and removal of the Group Company Secretary 
is a matter for the Board as a whole. The Company Secretary is a 
central source of information and advice to the Board and within the 
Company on matters of ethics and good governance. 

The Group Secretary’s functions include the following: 

• Providing the directors, collectively and individually, with 
detailed guidance on their duties, responsibilities and powers. 

• Providing information on all laws, legislation, regulations and 
matters of ethics and good corporate governance relevant to or 
affecting the Group. 

• Making certain that all statutory requirements are complied 
with. 

• Ensuring that the minutes of all shareholders’ meetings, 
directors’ meetings, Board Committee meetings, as well as 
meetings of management, are properly recorded. 

• Administering closed periods for dealing in the Group’s shares. 

• Managing the induction of new directors. 

The Board of Directors has considered and satisfied itself during 
the year under review and at the date of this report regarding 
the competence, qualifications and experience of the Company 
Secretary. In reaching this conclusion, the Board undertook an 
annual assessment of the Company Secretary’s performance for 
the past year, as well as her qualifications and experience. The 
Company Secretary maintains an arm’s length relationship with the 
Board of Directors. While the Company Secretary is a juristic entity, 
the Board of Directors has considered the individual performing the 
Company Secretary role in its annual assessment of the Company 
Secretary, as well as the directors and shareholders of the juristic 
entity appointed to the position of Group Company Secretary. 
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Corporate governance   (continued)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The directors are required by the South African Companies Act to 
maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 
preparation of the annual financial statements and related financial 
information of the Company and Group at the end of the financial 
year, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The external auditors, Moore Cape Town Inc, are responsible 
for independently auditing and reporting on the annual financial 
statements in conformity with International Standards on Auditing 
and the Companies Act of South Africa (as amended). Their 
auditors’ report appears on pages 28 to 31.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL 
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the total process 
of risk management and its effectiveness within the Group. 
Management is accountable to the Board and has established 
internal controls to manage significant Group risks. This assists the 
Board in discharging its responsibility for ensuring that the range 
of risks associated with its operations are effectively managed in 
support of the creation and preservation of shareholder value.

In view of the extent of the nature of the Group’s business, the 
Board considers it currently unnecessary to operate an internal 
audit function.

Regular management reports, which provide a balanced 
assessment of key risks, are an important component of Board 
assurance.

The Board is satisfied that there is an ongoing process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by 
the Group.

Disclosures relating to material risks can be found on the Group’s 
website (www.chrometco.co.za). 

IT GOVERNANCE 
The Board has no formal policy regarding IT governance, due to the 
current size and nature of its operations, reliance and dependence 
on IT systems. The Board will revise this assessment in the future 
in the event that there is a change in the circumstances described 
above. Management has increased the security and reliability of IT 
systems to ensure sustainability.

IT RISKS

COVID-19 Lockdown

During March South Africa, like most of the world, was placed on 
hard lockdown due to the COVID-19 pandemic and businesses had 
to rely on electronic communication and IT technology to remain 
operational.

The Group took the following steps to ensure business continuity 
with minimal disruption in the days leading up to lockdown:

• Microsoft Team rollout to users for IM, VoIP calls, video 
conferencing and online meetings with both internal and 
external contacts;

• Zoom rollout to selected users;

• Business critical onsite server data migrated to secure cloud 
and made available to users;

• Anydesk remote support software rolled out to all users to 
enable IT to remotely assist with IT and system issues; 

• Electronic signatures created for managers to enable electronic 
signing of required documentation; and

• Further roll-out of Corporate OneDrive to enable users to share 
data and to secure all data in case of data loss.

The above technologies enabled all users to perform their duties 
during the lockdown period.

Cyber Risk 

Email (electronic communication):

Email is one of the most widely used applications on the internet 
due to the convenience, cost effectiveness and time saving ability. 
Because of the popularity of email and its wide use in business it 
has become a convenient target for cyber criminals to exploit any 
vulnerabilities to gain access to IT infrastructure or to intercept 
email for payments.

During the COVID-19 pandemic the world, and especially South 
Africa, has seen a steep increase in cyber-attacks through email 
and fake websites. The risk increases as users are working from 
home using their private internet and most users are completely 
unaware that their home router’s firewall may be outdated or even 
disabled.

By using SaaS (Software as a Service) products like Mimecast and 
a best of breed end point protection IT ensured that all company 
equipment joined to a private network is protected.
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BOARD MEMBERS HOLDING SECURITIES 
The following Board members held securities as at 29 February 
2020: 

Director Shares held

B Sibiya 7 914 470

The following Board members held securities as at 28 February 
2019: 

Director Shares held

B Sibiya 7 930 743

There were no changes in securities held between the financial year 
end and the date of approval of the financial statements. 

DEALING IN SECURITIES 
The Group has a policy in place to restrict the dealing in its 
securities by directors, employees or other designated persons. 
No employee may deal, either directly or indirectly, in the Group’s 
ordinary shares on the basis of unpublished price-sensitive 
information regarding its business or affairs. No director, Company 
Secretary, officer or other employee of the Group or designated 
person may trade in the Group’s shares during a closed period 
as determined by the Board in accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements. 

A list of persons who are restricted for this purpose has been 
approved by the Board and is revised from time to time. A register 
of directors, Company Secretary and officers is available for 
inspection at the Company Secretary’s registered office at Unit 25 
Sunninghill Office Park, Sunninghill, Johannesburg.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
AND SUSTAINABILITY 
As a relatively small business, the Group has not yet established 
a corporate social responsibility and sustainability policy, but 
endeavours to be a responsible corporate citizen in all its dealings 
with stakeholders. 

GROUP ETHICS 
The Group is committed to the highest standards of professionalism 
and organisational integrity, as well as ethical and legal conduct in 
business dealings with stakeholders. A code of business conduct 
has been developed and implemented by the Group, which outlines 
the ethical and professional management that Chrometco upholds. 

COMMUNICATION 
Chrometco subscribes to a policy of full, accurate and consistent 
communication in respect of both its financial and operating affairs. 
The Group regularly communicates with major shareholders, 
institutional investors, analysts and the media. Chrometco 
encourages its shareholders to attend the Group’s general 
meetings, which provide opportunities for shareholders to ask 
questions of the Board, including the Chairmen of the two main 
standing Committees of the Board, or their representatives. 

Shareholders are informed at annual general meetings of the results 
of voting, in person and by proxy, in respect of all ordinary and 
special resolutions proposed at such meetings. 

A non-binding advisory vote will be made in relation to the 
Chrometco remuneration policy and implementation, as set out on 
pages 22 and 23, of this annual report will be tabled for separate 
non-binding advisory votes by shareholders at the Group’s 2020 
annual general meeting. 

The Board will engage with shareholders in the event of a 25% or 
more dissenting vote on the remuneration policy or implementation 
report (or both). The key purpose of such an engagement process is 
to ascertain the reasons for dissenting votes, and where legitimate 
and reasonable concerns are raised to address such concerns. 

This may include review and amendment to the remuneration policy 
or merely a clarification of the remuneration. 

The Board will take the outcome of each of the non-binding 
advisory votes in consideration when considering Chrometco’s 
future remuneration policy and remuneration implementation 
report. 

The Group’s website address is www.chrometco.co.za. 

DESIGNATED ADVISOR 
PSG Capital acts as Designated Advisor to the Group in compliance 
with the JSE Listings Requirements. 
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Corporate governance   (continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (COMPLIANCE WITH KING CODE) 
Principle Role and function Statement addressing the extent of application

Principle 1 The governing body should lead 
ethically and effectively.

Integrity:

The directors of Chrometco Limited have attended the DIP programme offered by the 
Institute of Directors South Africa. The training provided ensures that the members have 
been apprised of their fiduciary duties and governance practices regarding conflicts of 
interest and ethical conduct.

Disclosures of other directorships, personal financial interests and any other conflicts in 
any matter before the Board is a standing agenda item. If there is a conflict of interest, 
the directors are expected to recuse themselves from deliberation.

Competence:

Prior to the appointment of a new director, an initial skills assessment is conducted 
to ensure that new board members have the requisite skills required. Directors with 
specific technical qualifications and who are members of their relevant professional 
organisations, are required to maintain continuous professional development 
requirements.

Responsibility:

The board as a whole has devoted sufficient time to the preparation and attendance of 
Committee and Board meetings. 

Accountability:

At the annual general meeting (“AGM”) the Board will be held accountable to the 
shareholders and will be required to answer any questions on the execution of its 
responsibilities to shareholders.

Fairness:

The Board adopts a stakeholder inclusive approach and considers the effect of its 
strategy on the triple context and the capital it utilises.

Transparency:

The publication of the annual financial statements enables stakeholders to make an 
informed analysis of Chrometco’s performance and sustainability.

Principle 2 The governing body should govern 
the ethics of the organisation 
in a way that supports the 
establishment of an ethical 
culture.

Code of Ethics

The Group Codes have been adopted by the Board. The Codes serve as a guideline for 
the manner in which the Group’s employees, officers and directors conduct themselves 
and are applicable to Chrometco’s independent contractors, consultants, suppliers and 
others who conduct business with Chrometco. 

Whistleblowing Hotline:

A 24-hour Whistleblowing Hotline monitored by an independent external party (Whistle 
Blowers) to facilitate the detection and resolution of safety and ethics violations is 
implemented. The details of the hotline are posted in all the Chrometco operations and 
circulated to suppliers.
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Corporate governance   (continued)

Principle Role and function Statement addressing the extent of application

Principle 3 The governing body should 
ensure that the organisation is 
and is seen to be a responsible 
corporate citizen.

As contained in the Board Charter, the Board is responsible to ensure that it remains 
a committed, socially responsible corporate citizen. With the assistance of the Social 
and Ethics Committee, the Board is able to monitor the Company’s activities relating 
to good corporate citizenship and the impact of its activities on the environment, 
health and public safety, the employment relationships and its contribution toward the 
education development of its employees and within the communities. The Social and 
Ethics Committee oversees and monitors on an ongoing basis the consequences of 
the Chrometco’s activities and outputs on the workplace, economy, the prevention and 
detection of fraud, society, public health and safety and the environment.

Principle 4 The governing body should 
appreciate that the organisation’s 
core purpose, its risks and 
opportunities, strategy, business 
model, performance and 
sustainable development are all 
inseparable elements of the value 
creation process.

The Board has a unitary structure with a proper balance of power amongst the directors 
so that no one director has unfettered powers of decision-making. The chairperson, 
who is an independent non-executive director, oversees the effective functioning of 
the Board. In his leadership role, he is involved in setting the strategic direction of 
Chrometco and has been tasked with ensuring effective corporate governance practice.

On an annual basis and if/when distributions are paid, the Audit and Risk Committee 
review management documented assessment of Chrometco’s going concern status. 
Upon the recommendation from the Audit and Risk Committee, the Board confirms that 
Chrometco is both solvent and liquid and a going concern.

Principle 5 The governing body should 
ensure that reports issued by the 
organisation enable stakeholders 
to make informed assessments 
of the organisation’s performance 
and its short-, medium- and long-
term prospects.

The Board sets the direction of the reporting standards required for the annual financial 
statements and oversees the content of the annual financial statements and relevant 
disclosures therein. Chrometco ensures that annual financial statements and the 
integrated annual report are duly published on its website and/or an alternative media 
platform. Prior to the publication of any report, announcement or statement, the Board, 
with the assistance of the relevant Board Committees, will review the information 
contained in the report, announcement or statement for accuracy. This is indicative of a 
Board that ensures the integrity and completeness of the information published and that 
it has applied its mind as a collective.

The Board has accordingly approved materiality which has been discussed and agreed 
with management, the company’s external auditors and the Audit and Risk Committee.

Principle 6 The governing body should serve 
as the focal point and custodian 
of corporate governance in the 
organisation.

Encompassed in the Board Charter, it has confirmed, and the members further 
understand, that the Board is the focal point of Chrometco’s corporate governance 
system and is ultimately accountable for the performance and affairs of Chrometco. 
Furthermore, the Board Charter constitutes and forms an integral part of each of the 
director’s appointments. It reiterates the role of the Board and its members. The Board 
Charter provides for the annual rotation of one-third of directors. The Board and its 
Committees function in accordance with the approved Board Charter. The Board and its 
Committee Charters are closely aligned with the recommendations of King IV and are 
reviewed on an annual basis.
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Principle Role and function Statement addressing the extent of application

Principle 7 The governing body should 
comprise the appropriate balance 
of knowledge, skills, experience, 
diversity and independence for it 
to discharge its governance role 
and responsibilities objectively 
and effectively.

Composition:

The Board has a unitary board structure with four directors, comprising one salaried 
executive director and three non-executive directors. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Board 
has the appropriate composition for it to execute its duties effectively, that directors 
are appointed though a formal process and that formal succession plans for the Board, 
Chief Executive Officer and senior management appointments are in place.

The Board has approved both a Race and a Gender Diversity Policy indicating the 
Board’s commitment to seek out diversity. Although no formal targets have been set in 
the policies, it has been confirmed that preference will be given to candidates who are 
compliant with the Race and Gender Diversity Policy.

Nomination, election and appointment of members of the Board:

All new directors’ appointments are subject to the confirmation of shareholders 
at the AGM. In the notice of AGM, a brief CV is provided for each director who, 
in accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation must retire and submit 
themselves for re-election.

Chair of the Board:

The chair of the Board is an independent non-executive director whose role and 
responsibilities have been recorded in the Board Charter. Due to the size of the Board, 
the chair is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee, Social and Ethics Committee 
and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Board has appointed an 
independent non-executive director as its Lead Independent. The Chair is subject to 
Chrometco’s rotation policy, whereby one third of the longest serving directors resign 
annually at the Company’s AGM, but being eligible to do so may be re-elected.

Independence and conflicts:

Prior to each Board meeting, each director provides a declaration of interest schedule 
to the company secretary. Each director of the Board has sight of this schedule. Each 
director must prior to the continuation of the meeting, declare any interest that he/
she may have in respect of any agenda item. None of the non-executive directors 
participates in any Chrometco incentive scheme and shares held by the non-executive 
directors are not material to the directors’ personal wealth. This is considered annually 
by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee. None of the non-executive directors 
has been in the employ of the group within the preceding three financial years or is a 
related party to an executive manager in the employ of the group. None of the non-
executive directors has been the designated external auditor or been in the employment 
of the designated external auditor.
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Principle Role and function Statement addressing the extent of application

Principle 8 The governing body should 
ensure that its arrangements 
for delegation within its own 
structures promote independent 
judgement and assist with 
balance of power and the 
effective discharge of its duties.

The Board and its subcommittees are appropriately structured to conform to this 
principle. While the Board remains accountable and responsible for the performance 
and affairs of Chrometco, Board Committees assist the Board in discharging its duties 
and responsibilities. The Board Committees do not in any way mitigate or discharge the 
Board of its duties and responsibilities. Board Committees observe the same rules of 
conduct and procedures as the Board, unless the Board determines otherwise.

Principle 9 The governing body should 
ensure that the evaluation of its 
own performance and that of 
its committees, its chair and its 
individual members, support 
continued improvement in its 
performance and effectiveness.

The Board Charter provides that an evaluation of the Board, its sub-Committees and 
individual directors should be conducted every year.

Principle 10 The governing body should 
ensure that the appointment of, 
and delegation to, management 
contribute to role clarity and the 
effective exercise of authority and 
responsibilities.

Delegation:

The Board has approved a basic delegation of authority (reviewed by the Audit and Risk 
Committee) which sets the directions and parameters for the powers which are reserved 
for itself and those that are delegated to management in terms of financial approvals.

Professional corporate governance services to the governing body:

The Board has appointed an independent juristic person, Acorim, as company 
secretary. The company secretary maintains an arm’s-length relationship with 
Chrometco and is not a member on the Board. The Board has unfettered access to 
the company secretary ensuring that it receives independent guidance on legal and 
corporate governance matters.

Principle 11 The governing body should and 
corporate governance matters 
govern risk in a way that supports 
the organisation in setting and 
achieving strategic objectives.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the governance of risk as contained in the Board 
Charter. The Audit and Risk Committee has been delegated the authority to evaluate 
and improve the effectiveness of risk management. The Audit and Risk Committee 
Charter stipulates what is entailed to improve the effectiveness of risk management. At 
present the Audit and Risk Committee have review of risk as a continuous agenda item. 
The Audit and Risk Committee have delegated to management the responsibility to 
implement and execute effective risk management, including the maintenance of a risk 
matrix/register, which is considered by the Audit and Risk Committee on an annual basis 
as part of the Risk Strategy session.

Principle 12 The governing body should 
govern technology and 
information in a way that 
supports the organisation setting 
and achieving its strategic 
objectives.

In accordance with its Charter, the Board is responsible for information technology 
governance (“IT”). The Audit and Risk Committee are accordingly charged with the 
responsibility of ensuring that the Board carries out its IT responsibilities.
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Principle Role and function Statement addressing the extent of application

Principle 13 The governing body should 
govern compliance with 
applicable laws and adopted, 
non-binding rules, codes and 
standards in a way that supports 
the organisation being ethical 
and a good corporate citizen.

The Board has assumed responsibility for governance of compliance. The Board should 
be assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee. The Board’s roles and responsibilities are 
defined in the Board Charter.

The Audit and Risk Committee is also responsible to review the internal auditors’ reports 
concerning any compliance reviews; oversee management’s monitoring compliance 
with the Codes; ensure that management has the proper control systems in place to 
ensure that any activities, reports and other financial information disseminated meets 
legal or regulatory requirements; obtained regular updates from management and the 
Chrometco’s professional advisers regarding compliance matters.

External auditors review the effectiveness of risk management on an annual basis as 
part of their annual audit process. Such review includes a high-level review of applicable 
legislation.

Principle 14 The governing body should govern 
compliance with applicable laws 
and adopted, non-binding rules, 
codes and standards in a way that 
supports the organisation being 
ethical and a good corporate 
citizen.

The governing body should 
ensure that the organisation 
remunerates fairly, responsibly 
and transparently so as to 
promote the achievement of 
strategic objectives and positive 
outcomes in the short-, medium- 
and long-term.

Remuneration policy:

The Board together with the Remuneration and Nomination Committee have revised 
and approved a Charter. The Remuneration and Nomination Committee acts in 
accordance with the delegated authority of the Board as is contained in the Charter. The 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible for assisting the Board with the 
setting and advising on a remuneration policy aligned with the strategy of Chrometco 
and linked to individual performance.

The remuneration policy was included in the Notice of AGM and has accordingly been 
approved by the shareholders. The Charter provides that the remuneration policy must 
be designed to ensure that it promotes the achievement of strategic objectives and 
encourage individual performance.

Principle 15 The governing body should 
ensure that assurance services 
and functions enable an effective 
control environment, and that 
these support the integrity of 
information for internal decision-
making and of the organisation’s 
external reports.

Combined assurance:

The Board has delegated the responsibility of assurance to the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Audit and Risk Committee Charter has been reviewed and approved 
by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board. In accordance with the Audit and Risk 
Committee Charter, the Committee is authorised to test the veracity of the information 
provided to it by management.

The Audit and Risk Committee approves the non-audit services provided by the 
external auditors, recommends approval of the audit fees, considers the effectiveness 
and independence of the external auditors, and recommends the appointment/re-
appointment of the external auditors.

Assurance of external reports:

The Board assumes responsibility for the integrity of external reports by ensuring 
that they are reviewed at different levels, namely by the various relevant Board 
Committees, external auditors designated advisors, company secretary and the Board 
as a collective. The Board, via the external auditors and the Audit and Risk Committee 
complies with the requirements of the Companies Act, IFRS and any other financial 
reporting requirements including assurance on the veracity of underlying information 
contained in the annual financial statements. The assurances received, receptive to the 
intended audience, are tested by the Audit and Risk Committee and external auditors 
and the Board. The information contained in the annual financial statements is tested 
and verified by the external auditors, Audit and Risk Committee and the Board.

Internal Audit:

In addition to the Audit and Risk Committee Charter, the Board have approved 
an Internal Audit Charter based upon the recommendation of the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Internal Audit Charter authorises the Audit and Risk Committee to 
appoint a Chief Audit Executive (“CAE”), subject to the Board’s approval. The CAE 
would report administratively to the CEO but would maintain the requisite independence 
and authority.
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Principle Role and function Statement addressing the extent of application

Principle 16 In the execution of its governance 
role and responsibilities, the 
governing body should adopt a 
stakeholder-inclusive approach 
that balances the needs, interests 
and expectations of material 
stakeholders in the best interests 
of the organisation over time.

Stakeholder relationships:

Chrometco have a draft Stakeholder Engagement Policy. This policy has not been 
approved yet.

The AGM ensures the following:

1.  Proactive engagement with shareholders.

2.  Shareholders are afforded sufficient opportunity to raise questions on how the Board 
executed its governance duties.

3.  The Board invites the external audit firm to the AGM.

4.  The minutes of the AGM are available to the public upon request.

    Stakeholder engagement is managed through following avenues:

1.  Shareholders – Annual General Meeting and SENS announcements

2.  Employees – Communication from Human Resources and the CEO

3.  Communities – Community liaison through company representative as well as 
communication by the CEO

4.  Suppliers – Through the finance department and the Head of Departments
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Corporate governance   (continued)

6. Affordability 

The Group’s business plan and strategy, subject to 
budgetary constraints, determine the affordability limits 
regarding remuneration and other human resource costs. The limits 
serve as a guide for what can be spent. 

The limits can be adjusted taking the following into consideration: 

• Necessity of competitive remuneration; 

• Available budget funds. 

• Inflation rate. 

• Desirability of performance bonuses. 

• The need for structural adjustments regarding the remuneration 
of individuals and occupation groups. 

7. Continued learning 

The Group encourages its employees to improve their skills and 
knowledge in areas that contribute to the achievement of the 
Group’s strategy.

8. “Cost of Employment” package approach 

The remuneration of individuals is based on the cost of 
employment. This approach offers certain flexible structuring 
choices to individuals, which is the fairest way of managing 
remuneration and costs within tax legislation. 

REMUNERATION POLICY 
The Group underwrites a remuneration policy that: 

• aims to manage remuneration expenditure in an appropriate 
manner and offers the desired return in terms of the behaviour 
and performance of staff; 

• uses the value of the remuneration system as a central 
mechanism with which to achieve organisational objectives; 

• acknowledges the contribution of individual employees to 
the achievement of the Group’s objectives; and 

• offers managers the necessary flexibility to manage 
remuneration effectively; and positions the remuneration levels 
appropriately and sustainably in the labour market. 

More specifically: 

• The remuneration system should offer managers a powerful 
mechanism with which to achieve operational and strategic 
objectives. 

• The remuneration system should enable the managers to 
differentiate the total remuneration according to individual 
performance. Good performers should be remunerated 
according to value, while excellent performers should be 
remunerated significantly better than underperformers. 

• The remuneration of excellent performance in a specific year 
should not influence remuneration in subsequent years. To this 
end the remuneration policy incorporates annual performance-
linked bonus incentives that do not form a permanent 
component of the basic remuneration. 

• A major objective is to maintain the remuneration of average 
and excellent performers over time in real terms. 

• The Group aims to maintain a competitive remuneration 
position in the market. 

The Group believes in the following Group 
Remuneration Philosophy: 

In order to ensure the integrity and legitimacy of the remuneration 
system, the development and implementation of related policies, 
programmes, practices and decisions is directed by the main 
remuneration principles contained in the remuneration policy. 
The philosophy consists mainly of principles, values and points 
of departure relating to remuneration. The values guide the 
remuneration strategy and are more lasting in nature, while the 
objectives of the remuneration strategy will change as the Group’s 
business plan is amended. The aim of the remuneration philosophy 
is to: 

• communicate the remuneration commitments and expectations 
to the staff; 

• strengthen the organisational culture and underlying values of 
the Group; 

• guide and facilitate the remuneration implementation plan; 

• describe the manner in which the Group manages remuneration 
at the organisational level so that it is fair and consistent; and 

• serve as standard for the evaluation of the 
successful implementation of the remuneration policy and 
remuneration strategy. 

The Group believes that there are eight key principles underlining an 
effective and holistic Remuneration Policy. 

1. Transparent communication 

All information that is needed to take well-considered decisions 
regarding remuneration is communicated, while the confidentiality 
of personal remuneration information is respected. This improves 
the quality of decisions, promotes openness and honesty and 
ensures that ownership and accountability are accepted.

2. Non-discriminatory practices 

All policy directives and practices are free of unfair distinction 
and unfair discrimination based on race, gender, pregnancy, 
marital status, family responsibility, ethnic or social origin, sexual 
orientation, age, disability, religion, HIV status, conscience, 
convictions, political orientation, culture, language and birth is 
unacceptable. Fair distinction, based on performance, scarcity 
factors and skills are applied. 

3. Internal equity 

The Group remunerates staff fairly and consistently according to 
their role and individual value. The consistent application of the 
remuneration system throughout the Group is a priority. 

4. External parity 

Remuneration trends are taken into consideration to position 
the Group strategically to ensure competitive remuneration 
within the parameters of affordability, as far as is achievable and 
sustainable. 

5. Performance driven remuneration 

The Group’s philosophy is to emphasise the link between 
remuneration and performance. In order to implement the 
philosophy, an appropriate performance management system 
has been developed and implemented to differentiate between 
excellent, average and below average performers. A major objective 
of the remuneration system is to reward overall contribution rather 
than status or position. 
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Corporate governance   (continued)

• A single basic level of remuneration per employment grade is 
not viable neither is excessive variations in basic remuneration 
levels per employment grade. As a result, relatively narrow 
boundaries in terms of basic levels of remuneration will be 
implemented. 

• To guard against complacent and underperforming employees 
no minimum remuneration level per employee grade will be set. 

• The slope of the remuneration curve, with the lowest and 
highest remuneration levels as its extreme anchors, is a function 
of the market as well as other economic, social, ethical and 
moral considerations. 

Main drivers of the remuneration system 

The main drivers of the remuneration system are as follows: 

• Basic remuneration. 

• Performance bonuses. 

• Scarcity premiums. 

• Benefits. 

Basic remuneration 

In order to achieve a basic remuneration that achieves the goals of 
the Remuneration Policy, the following is performed: 

Basic remuneration benchmarking: The Group will continue to 
compare basic remuneration with the median in the market per 
employee grade. Salary adjustments: Performance driven salary 
adjustments are affected every year. Clear guidelines and support 
for this process will continue to be given to the managers by the 
Human Resources Division before the start of the performance 
cycle.

Performance awards 

In order to implement performance awards that achieve the goals of 
the Remuneration Policy, the following is performed: 

There will be support for the development of a system of 
performance bonuses, subject to affordability, based on excellent, 
world-class performance. Performance awards are earned every 
year from scratch. 

Scarcity premiums 

The payment of scarcity premiums for certain skills is considered. 
A scarcity premium is linked to a post or incumbent when there 
is a demand for such a post or incumbent and there is limited 
availability of the necessary skills and competencies in the market. 

The Group pays a scarcity premium as an allowance to employees 
who fill these posts in order to attract and retain them. The payment 
of the premiums will be revised on an annual basis as a result of 
varying supply and demand factors in the market. 

Benefits 

Suitable communication programmes are instituted to make staff 
aware of the employee benefits in order to create greater awareness 
of employment benefits so that the staff will view these as part of 
the total value proposition of employment within the group. 

Directors’ remuneration 

Executive directors’ performance is subject to the Group 
remuneration policy, with the performance management process 
being applied to quantify directors’ performance. 

The performance evaluation of the Group’s executive directors 
is performed by the Group’s Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee. 

There are no bonus schemes in place currently which detail the 
long-term, medium-term and short-term performance targets for 
the executive team. 

All directors receive a basic monthly salary that is set and is not 
variable. The previous director incentive scheme came to an end 
with the change in the Board. 

The Group is currently investigating whether new or additional 
bonus policies are required, and how these should be designed in 
order appropriately to incentivise the correct behaviour in the short, 
medium and long term. 

The Board believes that an incentivisation scheme is a powerful 
tool that allows a streamlining between senior management and 
the strategic direction of the Group, with a focus on the short-, 
medium- and long-term plans and goals of the Group. 

The directors’ remuneration has been disclosed in the Annual 
Financial Statements (refer note 26). 

The remuneration policy has been implemented as per the above. 

The total remuneration paid to non-executives and executive 
directors can be found in note 26. 

There were no deviations from the Group’s remuneration policy 
during the current financial year. 
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Social and Ethics 
Committee Report 
for the year ended 29 February 2020 

The Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal 
terms of reference as its Charter and has regulated its affairs 
in compliance with this Charter, and has discharged all of the 
responsibilities set out therein. The Committee was established 
in December 2011 to assist the Board in ensuring that Chrometco 
is and remains a good and responsible corporate citizen, and to 
perform the statutory functions required of a Social and Ethics 
Committee in terms of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as 
amended (“the Companies Act”). 

The Committee monitors relevant legislation, other legal 
requirements and prevailing codes of best practice, specifically 
regarding matters relating to social and economic development, 
good corporate citizenship, the environment, health and public 
safety, as well as labour and employment. 

The Committee is satisfied of the Group’s performance in the 
categories noted above and will continue to review, assess and 
report on these areas in the future. 

The committee has embarked on the following social responsibility 
initiatives during the 2020 Financial Year: 

WATER PROJECTS 
In addition to the two water supply projects that were installed and 
commissioned during the 2019 financial year, and enabled over 
700 people to have access to running water, the Group completed 
and commissioned the Gamaroga water project during the year 
under review which provides running water to approximately 
600 households. The project was to repair the inlet pipes to the 
reservoir, the installation of the distribution pipe from the reservoir 
and the installation of taps. 

SCHOOL PROJECT 
Sebope school were in dire need of assistance with their roof on 
classes that were built over 50 years ago. The roofs were damaged 
to the extent that if it rained the children had to go home. We 
completed the replacement of one roof during the 2019 financial 
year. Additionally, we completed the replacement of a second roof 
at the school which brings the schools classroom availability to full 
capacity.

The need for desks at the school was identified as the desks 
currently used are very old and damaged. The Group plans to start 
a program where training in carpentry is provided to community 
members to upskill them and thereby enabling them to repair these 
desks. 

COMMUNITY TRAINING 
The program for the Portable Skills Training intervention started on 
the 28 October 2019. The course consists of both theoretical and 
practical training and assessment sessions to ensure compliance 
with the Building and Construction Seta requirements. 

On completion of the training the candidates will be conversant 
and capable in bricklaying, plumbing, tiling, roofing, painting. As 
part of their practical assignment the Group will supply the required 
building materials to enable them to build a structure at Sebope 
school which will support the school with a further classroom, 
kitchen and sick room on their premises. 

In conjunction with our training provider Murray and Roberts a 
total number of 116 community members received Competency 
B training at the end of the 2020 financial year. We envisage to 
complete training for a further 40 candidates in the next quarter.

The Group assisted with the training and skills upliftment in 
relation of First Aid for numerous educators during the current 
financial year. This is to enable the educators to give learners 
effective treatment if they are injured during school events, in total 
66 educators received first aid training by the end of the 2020 
financial year. 

We are happy to say that all the learners who attended the Health 
and Safety Learnership course have completed their training and 
attended a graduation ceremony at the end of February 2020. The 
course provides the learners with numerous certificates and skills to 
enable them to obtain employment. The current placement rate for 
learners who completed this training is 76%. We trust they all will be 
successful in obtaining employment in the near future. 
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BURSARIES AND LEARNERSHIPS 
Five Artisan Trainees completed their yearly practical workbook 
assessments during the year. Additional two Artisan learners 
returned on 28 June 2020 attending the final 6-week course in 
preparation of their trade test. This 6-week course was scheduled 
for earlier this year but was delayed due to COVID-19. The 
remaining 3 candidates will return in during the second half of the 
year for the next phase of their training. 

Interviews were completed and three candidates have been 
selected to attend the learner miner training course as from the end 
of September 2020. The Learner Miner Training Course takes a total 
of 200 working shifts before the candidate can proceed to apply 
for a temporary blasting certificate on pass the blasting certificate 
examination.

The Group continues to support a student with a full bursary 
studying B Comm Accounting at Wits University. The student 
started with his third year training this year and is expected 
to complete his degree by the end of this year. The Group is 
further assisting 9 students at the TVET College with tuition and 
handbooks in engineering and administration courses. 

We have started with a roadshow to the high schools in the area 
whereby the company will assist 20 learners in their final year of 
schooling with books, stationary, tuition fees, study schools to 
enable these learners the full potential to achieve excellent marks 
in Grade 12. We envisage to use this as a platform to identify new 
candidates for bursaries in the 2021 calendar year. 

OTHER COMMUNITY PROJECTS

1. The Shade netting was installed at the Moshate tribal office 
to aid with much needed protection from the elements for 
community members visiting the tribal offices for meetings 
and events. 

Social and Ethics Committee Report   (continued)

2. Due to excessive rains, the Company has assisted numerous of 
the schools in the area in the following way: 

• Grading of Playground at Maroga Primary School 

• Grading of Soccer field outside Maroga Primary 

• Grading of Soccer field at Sehlaku Secondary 

We installed a secondary water line to the cattle drinking 
dam in Mooihoek to assist with water for the cattle when the 
community pump was destroyed. 

The Company assisted Moeng village with replacing of 
two JoJo Tanks to aid with water distribution, these tanks were 
replacements for tanks that were damaged in an unfortunate 
fire. 

3. The Community Pageant and Awareness Campaign took place 
on the 14th of September 2019. The event was attended by 500 
people, much fun was had by all. 

4. Specialised Blasting Solutions assisted Maputle Secondary 
School with meals during their Preparation school for Matric 
Examinations. 

5. We assisted Maputle High School with the repair of 24 doors 
and locks within the school.  We further sanitised eight 
classrooms and assisted with the demarcating of social 
distancing for the return of Grade 12 learners. We are also 
placing spare masks at the school for the use by learners who 
do not have masks or forgot their mask at home.

6. We assisted with the demarcating for social distancing and 
donated sanitising dispensers to the Moshate tribal office.

7. We are busy with the grading of the access road to Defataneng 
village to enable easy transportation within the area.

Nokuthula Thomas
Social and Ethics Committee Chairwoman 

17 August 2020  
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Directors’ responsibilities for the 
Annual Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements of Chrometco, 
comprising the consolidated statement of financial position 
at 29 February 2020, and consolidated statement of comprehensive 
loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended,and 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and other explanatory 
notes, in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Reporting Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council, as well as the requirements of the South African 
Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

In addition, the directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ 
report.

The directors consider that, in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements, they have used the most 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that 
all IFRS standards that they consider to be applicable have been 
complied with for the financial year ended 28 February 2020. 
The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the 
consolidated financial statements fairly presents the results of 
operations for the year and the financial position of the Group at 
year-end. The directors are responsible for the information included 
in the financial report, and are responsible for both its accuracy and 
its consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that accounting 
records are kept. The accounting records should disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group to enable 
the directors to ensure that the consolidated financial statements 
comply with the relevant legislation.

The Group operated in a well-established control environment, 
which is well documented and regularly reviewed. This incorporates 
risk management and internal control procedures, which are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded and the material risks facing the business are being 
controlled.

We confirm to the best of our knowledge:

That the financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of 
the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole.

The management reports include a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the 
company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties that we face; and the Annual Report 
and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced 
and understandable and provide the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the company’s position and performance, 
business model and strategy.

The directors have assessed the ability of the Company and its 
subsidiaries to continue as going concerns. Refer to note 37.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the Group 
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.

The financial statements for the year ended 29 February 2020 set 
out on pages 32 to 79 were approved by the Board of Directors on 
17 August 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

M Naude
Chief Financial Officer CA(SA)

Declaration by Company Secretary
In my capacity as Company Secretary, I Nicole Kemp hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Company has lodged 
with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required to be lodged by a public Company in terms of 
section 88 (2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, and that all such returns appear to be true, correct and up to date.

Acorim (Pty) Ltd

17 August 2020
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

independence requirements applicable to performing audits of 
financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the 
IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements 
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes 
are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) 
respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. 

To the Shareholders of Chrometco Limited 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Chrometco Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out 
on pages 35 to 79, which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 29 February 2020, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive loss, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Chrometco Limited and its subsidiaries as at 29 February 2020, and 
its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Companies 
Act of South Africa (as amended). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with sections 290 
and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code 
of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 
2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 
(Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

Key audit matter   How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment – Refer to accounting policy note 1.3.1 and 
note 1.7

   

The Group performs impairment assessments when events or 
changes in circumstances occur in respect of cash generating 
units (“CGUs”).

Significant judgements, assumptions and estimates are used by 
the Group in determining the recoverable amounts of the Group’s 
CGUs. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of 
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD”). 
The recoverable amount is based on expected future cash flows 
which are inherently uncertain, and are affected by a number of 
factors including reserves and resources estimates, production 
estimates, economic factors such as chrome, discount rates, 
foreign currency exchange rates, resource valuations, estimates of 
production costs, future capital expenditure and taxation.

  Our audit procedures performed included the following:

We focused our audit work on testing the key assumptions used in 
assessing impairment, which included:

  • Critically evaluating whether the discounted cash flow 
model used by the directors to calculate the value in use 
of the individual cash-generating units complies with the 
requirements of IAS 36.

• Challenging the assumptions used by the directors in the 
calculations for each cash generating unit by: 

   - involving our internal valuation specialists, as part of our 
audit team, to   evaluate and re-calculate the discount 
rates and evaluate the perpetuity growth rates in relation to 
external market data, and

 -  assessing the reasonableness of assumptions relating 
to revenue growth and profit growth in relation to our 
knowledge of the Group and the industry in which it 
operates, and through performing the procedures on the 
projected cash flows as described below.

  • Analysing the future projected cash flows for the individual 
cash-generating units to determine whether they are 
reasonable and supportable given the current macro-
economic climate and expected future performance of each 
cash generating unit.

• Comparing the projected cash flows, including the 
assumptions relating to revenue growth rates, profit growth 
and perpetuity growth rates, against historical performance to 
test the accuracy of the directors’ projections.

• Subjecting the key assumptions to sensitivity analyses.

  We evaluated whether the disclosures in the financial statements 
were appropriate in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting standards including those disclosures related to 
significant accounting judgements and estimates.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

Key audit matter   How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Life of mine and mining assets – Refer to accounting policy 
note 1.3.3, 1.6 and note 3

   

The calculation of the life-of-mine (LOM) is complex and involves 
specialised geological knowledge. The LOM is based on estimated 
available reserves, disclosed as mining assets held at fair value in 
note 3. Any changes to the reserves and resources will impact the 
LOM and fair value of the mining assets, which could impact the 
calculation and disclosure of the LOM estimate and mining assets.

  Our audit procedures performed included the following:

  • We assessed the mathematical accuracy of the LOM and 
mining asset models.

• We reviewed the appropriateness of the mining methodology, 
mine plan, mine schedule, LOM plan and technical merits of 
the production schedule.

• We assessed the assumptions used by management’s expert 
to derive the life of mine and value of mining assets.

• We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 
managements’ expert and verified their qualifications.

• We performed a retrospective review of key assumptions used 
in the model by comparing them to actual achieved metrics 
from previous years.

Provision for rehabilitation – refer to accounting policy 1.12 
and note 15

   

Given the nature of its operations, the Group incurs obligations 
to restore and rehabilitate the land. Rehabilitation activities are 
governed by a combination of legislative requirements and Group 
policies. Significant estimates over life of mine and reserves are 
made by the Group in determining its rehabilitation provision.

The calculation of the rehabilitation provision requires significant 
judgements due to the inherent complexity in estimating the 
quantum and timing of future costs.

  Our audit procedures performed included the following:

  • We critically assessed management’s assumptions used in 
calculating the provision for rehabilitation.

• We evaluated the assumptions used by management’s expert 
to derive the amount of the provision.

• We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 
the expert who determined the environmental rehabilitation 
provision and verified their qualification. 

• We recalculated the final rehabilitation provision calculation 
for arithmetic accuracy to confirm the accuracy of the 
amount recognised based on the underlying estimates to the 
calculation.

• We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures with respect to 
the assumptions used in the determination of the rehabilitation 
provision as detailed in note 18 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document titled 
“Chrometco Limited Integrated Report 2020”, and in the document titled “Chrometco Limited Separate Financial Statements for the year 
ended 29 February 2020”, which includes the Directors' Report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s 
Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the consolidated or separate financial 
statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior 
to the date of this report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISA’s will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA’s, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 
39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Moore Cape Town 
Inc. has been the auditor of Chrometco Limited for 3 years. 

Moore Cape Town Inc.
Chartered Accountants (SA) 
Registered Auditors
Per: Pierre Johannes Conradie 
Director
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountant (SA)

17 August 2020

2nd Floor Block 2
Northgate Park
Paarden Eiland
7406 
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Directors’ Report

The Board of Directors has pleasure in 
presenting their report for the year ended 
29 February 2020.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Chrometco Limited (“Chrometco” or “the Group”) is primarily 
involved in the acquisition and exploration of mineral resources, 
production and processing of Chrome ore and the sale of this 
Chrome ore.

During the 2020 Financial year the Group completed the 
construction of the first phase of the Chrome processing 
operation that was commissioned in November 2019. Construction 
on the second phase of the processing operation, continues. 

The construction of the plant started towards the end of the 2019 
Financial year and has been a vigorous capital-intensive project 
which we expect will boost the Group’s performance and yield high 
returns.

Additionally, the Group started leasing sorters to screen chips 
and lumpy stockpiles which has yielded additional revenue for the 
Group. 

Sail Minerals primarily operates as a logistics and marketing 
agent for the Group but expanded its operations and is currently 
operating the processing and screening operations which were 
commissioned towards the end of the 2020 Financial year.

The Group has the right of use of new order mining rights for 
chrome on Portion 2 of the farm Rooderand as well as the rights 
for chrome, PGMs and base metals on the Remainder Portion of 
Rooderand. Rooderand is currently not operating and is under care 
and maintenance. The two new order mining rights are held by 
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd, a 74% subsidiary of Chrometco. The 
other 26% of Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd is under BEE control.

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd a wholly owned subsidiary, holds 76% of the 
issued share capital of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd which 
are both dormant entities after the transfer of the new order mining 
rights to Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd during the period ended 
29 February 2016.

GENERAL REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
During the year under review, management focused its attention on 
the following issues:

• Continuing to maximise the operations of Black Chrome Mine 
after its recovery from business rescue by focusing on the core 
management principles of the entity.

• The Black Chrome Operations’ run of mine production 
continued at steady state of 90 000 tonnes per month 
throughout the year.

• Commissioning of the processing chrome plant and the 
ramping up of the chips and lumpy screening operation.

• Management of the Group’s financial assets and 
contractual relationships.

• The acquisition of mineral rights, and business opportunities 
in the Republic and elsewhere in SADC (Southern African 
Development Community).

• Optimisation of the allocation of capital resources.

• In the 2020 financial year, wage negotiations with AMCU 
resulted in an average increase of 9% for the mine workers.

CHALLENGES
The following challengers were identified by the management team, 
and specific focus was made on how to mitigate this:

• Mining Charter: The new mining charter was released and the 
group is focused on the implementation.

• The market for chrome is a volatile industry, with erratic ups 
and downs. This has affected the price received for the sale of 
product, both positively and negatively.

• Ensuring the health and safety of employees remains a 
challenge and a focus area, even more so due to COVID-19. We 
achieved a million fatality free shifts during June. 

SEGMENT REPORT
Chrometco is a minerals miner and exploration Group with 
prospects in the Limpopo Province of the Republic of South Africa. 
As the Group is currently involved in the mining of one active 
operation and all income and expenditure, assets and liabilities are 
held and incurred in this single activity, segmental information will 
not be presented until such time as the business has developed 
and segments of the business can be properly identified and a 
meaningful allocation can be made between such segments. All 
management information is presented in one segment due to the 
fact  that the Company and Group only has one geographical and 
operating segment/activity.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Group achieved a total comprehensive loss after tax for the 
year amounting to R95.8 million (2019: R138.6 million restated).

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared or paid during the period under review 
(2019: Rnil).

BORROWINGS 
The borrowings in the company are with the IDC and bear interest 
at prime + 3.3%. The first repayment is due in May 2021.

The Group has the following borrowings with related parties:

• long-term borrowings of R37.7 million (2019: R42.7 million); and

• short-term borrowings R19.4 million (2019: R22.3 million).

Refer to note 30 for additional information about related party loans.

FINANCE LEASES
The Group has the following finance leases with:

• long-term leases of R87.9 million (2019: R31.3 million); and

• short-term leases R71.8 million (2019: R59.8 million).
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EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO YEAR-END
On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organization declared the 
Corona virus (COVID-19) a global health emergency. The South 
African national lockdown became effective at midnight on 26 
March 2020 and lasted until 30 April 2020, before we could continue 
operations.

The group obtained permission from the DRME to operate at full 
capacity from 26 March 2020 but opted to only operate surface 
mining and processing operations. This decision was taken as a 
precaution to ensure that all required protocols were implemented 
to ensure the health and safety of our employees. It should be noted 
that despite the challenging economic circumstances the country is 
facing, we were still able to pay our employees full salaries for these 
two months.

Underground production at Black Chrome Mine was in care and 
maintenance for the entire five-week April lockdown period. To 
make up for the lost production the following measures were 
implemented:

• the December break replaces 10 days of the first lockdown; and

• the production lost during the second lockdown period will be 
made up by working back one full weekend every month for the 
remaining seven months of the year.

Additionally, the Group implemented various protocols to reduce 
the COVID-19-related health and safety risks.

The impact of COVID-19 on the Group was considered and it was 
concluded that there is no material impact on the group. Refer to 
note 36 for more details.

There have been no significant subsequent events in relation to the 
2020 Financial year.

BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT
The Group is committed to the principles of black economic 
empowerment and accordingly the BEE shareholding in the mining 
operations meets the required percentages as included in the 
relevant mining legislation. The Group’s management continues to 
identify ways of improving the BEE standing of the Group. 

DIRECTORS
Refer to note 26 for the directors of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Refer to note 26 for the disclosure of the directors’ emoluments.

Directors’ Report (continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Acorim (Pty) Ltd
Business address 13th Floor, Illovo Point, 
68 Melville Road 
Illovo, Johannesburg 
Sandton, 2196
Postal address
PO Box, 1553
Kelvin 
2054

REGISTERED ADDRESS OF CHROMETCO
Unit 25
Sunninghill Office Park 
Sunninghill 
Johannesburg
PO Box 1553
Kelvin 
2054 

AUDITORS
The Auditors of the Group are Moore Cape Town Inc. The 
designated audit partner is Mr Pierre Conradie who is a JSE 
accredited auditor.

GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared on the going-
concern basis, since the directors have reason to believe that the 
Group has adequate resources in place and available to it from its 
shareholders to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. 
In reaching this conclusion, the directors have considered the 
following:

• The Group’s cash requirements over the next 12 months.

• The Group’s current financial position.

• The volatility of the Chrome price and the exposure to the US 
dollar exchange rate due to the Rand/US Dollar exchange rate 
of R17/US$ as the fact that Chrome is predominately sold in US 
dollars.

• The average forecasted chrome price of 42% UG2 Concentrate 
(CIF China) was USD140/t for the year, with the chrome market 
price volatility of a 12-month low of USD114/t and 12 month high 
of USD167.5/t. Since year end, the chrome price varied between 
USD114/t and USD167.5/t.

• The probability of non-recurring events and circumstances 
that may have an impact on the Group’s future cash flows and 
financial position over the next 12 months.

• Refer to note 37 of the Financial Statements for further 
information on the going-concern position of the Group.
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Report by the Audit and Risk Committee
for the year ended 29 February 2020

The Audit Committee reports that it has discharged all of its 
responsibilities for the current financial year in line with its 
mandate and in line with s94 of the Companies Act of 2008. 
These responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

• nominated the re-appointment of Moore Cape Town Inc as the 
registered independent auditors after satisfying itself through 
enquiry that Moore Cape Town Inc is independent as defined in 
the terms of the Companies Act of South Africa;

• determined the fees to be paid to Moore Cape Town Inc and 
approved their terms of engagement;

• ensured that the re-appointment of Moore Cape Town Inc 
complied with the Companies Act of South Africa (as amended) 
and any other legislation relating to the appointment of auditors;

• approved a non-audit services policy which determines the 
nature and extent of any non-audit services which Moore Cape 
Town Inc may provide to the Company;

• approved the appointment of a full time Financial Director and 
satisfied itself as to his experience and expertise;

• presentation of financial statements and reports complying with 
all relevant corporate disclosure requirements and accounting 
standards;

• reviewing any other announcement on the Group’s results or 
other financial information;

• the identification of exposure to significant risks;

• all corporate governance issues; and

• assessing the operation of adequate processes of 
internal control.

Additionally, committee has considered the JSE proactive 
monitoring letters that were received during the 2020 financial 
year and the “Reporting back on proactive monitoring of financial 
statements in 2019”  report which was issued by the JSE on 18 
February 2020.

Having reviewed the Independent Regulatory Board of Auditors’ 
(“IRBA”) latest findings and inspection reports as well as a summary 
of internal review findings provided by the auditors, in terms of 
paragraph 22.15 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Committee 
is satisfied that both Moore Cape Town Inc and Mr. Pierre Conradie 
are accredited in terms of the Listing Requirements and are 
independent from the Company.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that an adequate system of 
internal control is in place to reduce significant risks faced by 
the Group to an acceptable level, and that these controls have 
been effective throughout the period under review. The system is 
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure and to 
maximise opportunities to achieve business objectives. This can 
provide only reasonable, but not absolute assurance.

As required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the 
Audit Committee has satisfied itself that Mr Naude continues to 
have the appropriate experience and expertise to serve as the Chief 
Financial Officer of the group.

The Audit Committee has evaluated the Group financial 
statements of Chrometco Limited for the year ended 29 February 
2020 and based on the information provided to the Audit 
Committee, considers that it complies,  in all material respects, 
with the statutory requirements of the various regulations 
governing disclosure and reporting of the consolidated 
financial statements and that the consolidated financial statements 
comply in all material respects with IFRS, as issued by the 
IASB, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides issued by the 
Accounting Practices Committee, as well as the requirements 
of the South African Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements. The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial 
statements, and believe that they fairly present the financial 
position, the changes in equity, results of operations and the 
cash flows of the group. The Audit Committee has evaluated the 
independence of the external auditors and the Audit Committee 
is satisfied that the external auditors have remained independent. 
The Audit Committee therefore recommends the adoption of the 
financial statements by the Board.

The Board has subsequently approved the financial statements 
which will be open for discussion at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

L Jordaan
Audit and Risk Committee Chairman

17 August 2020
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Consolidated statement of financial position
at 29 February 2020

  Notes
29 Feb 2020

R’000
28 Feb 2019

R’000
      Restated*

ASSETS      

Non-current assets   1 214 615 1 022 047

Tangible assets 3 1 169 371 975 051

Other financial assets 4 34 115 35 421

Deferred taxation asset 25 100 3 524

Environmental rehabilitation obligation investments 5 11 029 8 051

Current assets   593 661 418 324

Trade and other receivables 6 122 714 46 430

Inventory 7 321 398 112 776

Cash and cash equivalents 8 9 448 45 611

Disposal group assets held for sale 9 140 101 213 507

Total assets   1 808 276 1 440 371

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      

Capital and reserves   437 727 536 625

Stated capital 10 388 512 388 512

Accumulated losses   (130 041) (94 680)

Attributable to equity owners of the parent   258 471 293 832

Non-controlling interest 11 179 256 242 793

Non-current liabilities   326 648 304 761

Deferred taxation liability 25 73 426 110 422

Borrowings 12 105 259 97 016

Other financial liabilities 13 37 720 42 666

Lease liability 14 87 878 32 287

Environmental rehabilitation provision 15 22 365 22 370

Current liabilities   1 043 901 598 985

Trade and other payables 17 618 082 375 227

Structured finance facility 16 294 992 97 634

Borrowings 12 19 374 22 282

Lease liability 14 71 815 59 814

Other financial liabilities 13 4 537 –

Disposal group liabilities held for sale 9 35 101 44 028

Total equity and liabilities   1 808 276 1 440 371

* Refer to note 34 and note 35.    
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
for the year ended 29 February 2020

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Notes R’000 R’000
      *Restated

Revenue 18 1 141 492 1 327 923

Cost of sales 19 (933 405) (1 061 675)

Gross profit   208 087 266 248

Depreciation 20 (169 585) (167 772)

Other income 21 16 541 6 240

Other expenses 22 (81 981) (84 206)

Salaries   (50 975) (56 997)

Professional fees   (13 768) (19 712)

Maintenance expenses   (1 105) (1 224)

Impairment 23 (4 814) (49 203)

Gain from disposal group 9 1 923 3 774

Investment income 24 3 521 1 274

Finance charges 24 (35 861) (48 068)

Loss before tax   (128 017) (149 646)

Taxation 25 32 168 11 072

Loss for the year   (95 849) (138 574)

Other comprehensive income   – –

Total comprehensive income loss for the year   (95 849) (138 574)

Attributable to:      

Owners   (33 855) (78 200)

Non-controlling interest (IS)   (61 995) (60 374)

Basic loss per share (cents) 27.1 (1.33) (3.52)

Diluted loss per share (cents) 27.2 (1.33) (3.52)

* Refer to note 34 and note 35.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 29 February 2020

    Stated capital
Accumulated

loss
Owners 
interest

Non-
controlling

interest Total
  Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Opening balance 1 March 2019   388 512 (49 607) 338 905 176 301 515 206

Non-controlling interest share of loss for the year 
(restated) 34 – – – (60 374) (60 374)

Total comprehensive loss for the 12 months ended 
28 February 2019 (restated) 34 – (78 200) (78 200) – (78 200)

Transaction with shareholders: Conversion of 
borrowings to loans   – – – 167 218 167 218

Transaction with shareholders: Change in 
shareholding   – 40 897 40 897 (40 897) –

Transaction with shareholders: Change in estimate   – (8 338) (8 338) – (8 338)

Transaction with shareholders: Gain on acquisition   – 568 568 545 1 113

Issue of shares   – – – – –

Balance at 28 February 2019 (restated)   388 512 (94 680) 293 832 242 793 536 625

Change in accounting policy 1.4 – (1 506) (1 506) (1 542) (3 048)

Balance at 1 March 2019 (restated)   388 512 (96 186) 292 326 241 251 533 577

Non-controlling interest share of loss for the year   – – – (61 995) (61 995)

Total comprehensive loss for the twelve months 
ended 29 February 2020   – (33 855) (33 855) – (33 855)

Balance at 29 February 2020   388 512 (130 041) 258 471 179 256 437 727

  10          

  Refer to note 34 and note 35 for details relating to the restatement.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 29 February 2020

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Notes R’000 R’000
      *Restated

Cash flows from operating activities      

Cash generated by operations and exploration activities   241 193 279 674

Operating profit before working capital changes 33 140 612 129 934

Working capital changes 33 100 581 149 740

Interest received    –  –

Finance cost   (17 972)  –

Tax paid    – (3 709)

Net inflow from operating activities   223 221 275 965

Cash flows from investing activities      

Property, plant and equipment additions   (185 674) (147 630)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 5 616  –

Contributions to environmental rehabilitation obligation funds 5 (2 362) (3 260)

Loans funded   (1 186) (2 957)

Net cash outflows from investing activities   (183 606) (153 847)

Cash flows from financing activities      

Lease payments   (70 675) (76 041)

Repayment of borrowings 12 (5 103) (38 446)

Settlement of other financial liabilities    – (34 972)

Borrowings obtained    – 25 058

Drawdown on bank facility    – 13 009

Net cash outflow from financing activities   (75 778) (111 392)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (36 163) 10 726

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   45 611 34 885

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8 9 448 45 611

* Refer to note 34 and note 35.
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Notes to the financial statements for the Chrometco 
Group

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Chrometco Limited (“the Company”) is a public Company, which is listed on the AltX of the JSE Limited and is incorporated and 
domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. Chrometco is the holding Company of the Chrometco Group. These consolidated financial 
statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). The Group is a mining and exploration 
Group, which focuses on Chrome mining and processing in South Africa. The financial statements are presented in South African 
Rand (“R”). 

1.1 Statement of Compliance

The financial statements for the year ended 29 February 2020 have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, the South 
African Institute of Chartered Accountants Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, as well 
as the requirements of the South African Companies Act and JSE Listings Requirements.

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s board of directors on 17 August 2020.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period except for the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) in the 
2020 financial year. The adoption has been made in compliance with the transitional requirements in the relevant standards. 
Refer to note 1.4 for additional information on the adoption of IFRS 16.

1.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for assets held for sale and 
financial assets and liabilities measured through profit and loss, which have been brought to account at fair value through 
profit or loss. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Rands and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
(R000), except when indicated otherwise.

The Chrometco Limited (referred to as “Company”) stand alone financial statements have not been published as they do not 
contain additional information which would be useful to the users of the financial statements. The listed company exists solely to 
function as the holding company and does not have additional activities as an individual company.

1.3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, 
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made various judgements. Those which 
management has assessed to have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements have been discussed in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, 
are also described in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items below. The Group based its assumptions 
and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond 
the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

The most significant areas requiring the use of management estimates and assumptions relate to mineral reserves and 
resources that are the basis of future cash flow estimates used for impairment and going concern assessments,  units-
of-production depreciation calculations, estimates of recoverable materials in stockpiles inventories and provision for 
environmental rehabilitation costs.

1.3.1 Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher 
of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the assumptions may change, which may then impact our estimations and 
may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of tangible assets.

for the year ended 29 February 2020
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

1.3.2 Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line over management’s best estimate of their useful lives. 

1.3.3 Mineral reserves and resources estimate 

Mineral reserves are estimates of the amount of product, inclusive of diluting materials and allowances for losses, which 
can be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s properties, as determined by life-of-mine schedules or 
prefeasibility studies.

Mineral resources are estimates, based on specific geological evidence and knowledge, including sampling, of the 
amount of product in situ, for which there is a reasonable prospect for eventual legal and economic extraction. 

In order to calculate the reserves and resources, estimates and assumptions are required about a range of geological, 
technical and economic factors, including but not limited to quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, 
production costs, capital expenditure, transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates. 

Estimating the quantity and grade of the mineral reserves and resources is based on exploration and sampling 
information gathered through appropriate techniques (primarily diamond drilling, reverse circulation drilling, air-core and 
sonic drilling), surface three-dimensional reflection seismics, ore body faces modelling, structural modelling, geological 
mapping, detailed ore zone wireframes and geostatistical estimation. This process may require complex and difficult 
geological judgements and calculations to interpret the data. 

The Group is required to determine and report on the mineral reserves and resources in accordance with the South 
African Mineral Resource Committee (“SAMREC”) code on an annual basis. 

Estimates of mineral reserves and resources may change from year to year due to the change in economic, regulatory, 
infrastructural or social assumptions used to estimate ore reserves and resources, and due to additional geological data 
becoming available. Changes in reported proven and probable reserves may affect the Group’s financial results and 
position in a number of ways, including the following: 

• The recoverable amount used in the impairment calculations may be affected due to changes in estimated cash flows 
or timing thereof; 

• Depreciation charges to profit or loss may change as these are calculated on the units-of-production method, or 
where the useful economic lives of assets change; 

• Provision for environmental rehabilitation costs may change where changes in ore reserves affect expectations about 
the timing or cost of these activities; and

• The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of the tax 
benefits. 

1.3.4 Provision for environmental rehabilitation costs 

The Group’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of the 
environment. The Group recognises management’s best estimate for the provision of environmental rehabilitation costs 
in the period in which they are incurred. Actual costs incurred in future periods could differ materially from the estimates. 
Additionally, future changes to environmental laws and regulations, life-of-mine estimates and discount rates could affect 
the carrying amount of this provision. 

Refer note 15 for additional information.

1.3.5 Inventories 

Net realisable value tests are performed at least annually and represent the estimated future sales price of the product 
the entity expects to realise when the product is processed and sold, less estimated costs to complete production 
and bring the product to sale. Where the time value of money is material, these future prices and costs to complete are 
discounted.

Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile. The chrome 
content is based on assay data from sample tests. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

1.3.6 Going concern 

Management continually assesses  the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and the following key inputs which 
are subject to estimation are used in the assessment:

• Chrome price

• Rand to US Dollar exchange rate

The chrome price is highly volatile and the expected chrome price is subject to high levels of uncertainty. The Group 
is exposed to the fluctuating chrome price due to the fact that the Group does not have long-term fixed selling price 
contracts. To estimate the expected chrome price, historical trends and current deals are used to predict the expected 
chrome price.

1.4  New standards and interpretations 

The Group applied IFRS 16 from 1 March 2019, the standard became effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The Group applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, whereby the comparative information presented for 2019 
is not restated. Instead, cumulative adjustments to retained earnings have been recognised in retained earnings as at 1 March 
2019.

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for leases. A lessee recognises a right-of-use 
asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. 
There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to 
the treatment in terms of IAS 17 Leases – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.

Leases previously classified as operating leases

The Group undertook the following at the date of initial application for leases which were previously recognised as 
operating leases:

• Recognised a lease liability, measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.

• Recognised right-of-use assets measured on a lease by lease basis, at either the carrying amount (as if IFRS 16 applied 
from  commencement date but discounted at the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application).

The Group applied IAS 36 to consider if these right-of-use assets are impaired as at the date of initial application.

The Group applied the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases 
in terms of IAS 17. Where necessary, they have been applied on a lease by lease basis:

• when a portfolio of leases contained reasonably similar characteristics, the Group applied a single discount rate to that 
portfolio;

• leases which were expiring within 12 months of 1 March 2020 were treated as short-term leases, with remaining lease 
payments recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis which is more representative of the 
pattern of benefits consumed;

• initial direct costs were excluded from the measurement of right-of-use assets at the date of initial application; and

• hindsight was applied where appropriate. This was specifically the case for determining the lease term for leases which 
contained extension or termination options.

Leases previously classified as finance leases

For leases that were classified as finance leases applying IAS 17, the Group measured the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset and the lease liability at the date of initial application as the carrying amount of the leased asset and lease 
liability immediately before that date measured applying IAS 17. For those leases, the Group accounts for the right-of-use 
asset and the lease liability applying IFRS 16 from the date of initial application.

Impact on financial statements

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised an additional R12.3 million of right-of-use assets (buildings), with a cost of 
R15.1 million and accumulated depreciation of R3.9 million. The Group also recognised an additional R16.5 million lease 
liabilities, recognising the difference in retained earnings.

When measuring lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 March 2019. 
The weighted average rate applied is 10.75%.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.5 Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiary companies and other controlled entities 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its Subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company:

• has power to direct the income generating activities of an entity;

• has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement in the entity; and

• has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.

Management used their judgement to determine when all the indicators of control had been met. Factors such as effective 
date, payment date, ability to exercise power and govern are taken into account in the determination of control. Subsidiaries 
that will be disposed of/discontinued within 12 months are consolidated in line with the principles of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations and disclosed as held for sale/discontinued.

Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even 
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries:

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to the owners of the Company.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may initially be measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is 
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. 

1.6 Property, plant and equipment 

Mining assets

Mining assets includes exploration, evaluation and development expenditure, borrowing costs, mining rights acquisition costs, 
chrome processing assets, buildings and associated mining equipment. 

Exploration and evaluation costs include costs directly related to exploration and evaluation activities in the relevant area of 
interest. General and administration costs were allocated to the asset to the extent that those costs can be related directly to 
operational activities in the area of interest. 

Development costs comprises of costs directly attributable to the construction of a mine and related infrastructure. This 
will include the development of shaft systems and waste rock removal that allows access to reserves that are economically 
recoverable in the future. It also includes capitalised expenditure comprising of depreciation, employee costs and certain 
overhead costs incurred during the development phase.

Mining assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Other assets

All other property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. These assets include the assets of the mining operations not included in mine 
development and infrastructure.

Tangible assets are initially recorded at cost. Cost is the fair value of the consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of 
its acquisition and includes the direct cost of bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for operation and the 
estimated future cost of closure and rehabilitation of the facility.

Subsequent measurement is at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is 
provided on the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of assets to the residual value.
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Depreciation of mining assets 

Depreciation is determined to give a fair and systematic charge to profit or loss taking into account the nature of a particular 
mineral reserve and the method of mining that mineral reserve. To achieve this, the following calculation methods are used:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Buildings (Right-of-use assets) Straight line Life of mine

Processing plant Straight line Life of mine

Plant and machinery Straight line 5 years

Furniture and fittings Straight line 6 years

Motor vehicles Straight line 5 years

Office equipment Straight line 3 years

Mine equipment Units of production Life of mine

Mine infrastructure and development Units of production Life of mine

Mine vehicles  Straight line 4 to 5 years

• the life of the mine and the units-of-production methods are based on estimated proved and probable mineral reserve;

• proved and probable mineral reserves reflect estimated quantities of economically recoverable reserves, which can be 
recovered in future from known mineral deposits; and

• the current estimated life of mine is eleven years based on the proven and probable mineable reserve.

Deferred stripping

Production stripping costs in a surface mine are capitalised to property, plant and equipment if, and only if, all of the following 
criteria are met:

• it is probable that the future economic benefit associated with the stripping activity will flow to the entity;

• the entity can identify the component of the ore body for which access has been improved; and

• the costs relating to the stripping activity associated with that component can be measured reliably.

If the above criteria are not met, the stripping costs are recognised directly in profit or loss.

The Group initially measures the stripping activity asset at cost, this being the accumulation of costs directly incurred to perform 
the stripping activity that improves access to the identified component of ore.

After initial recognition, the stripping activity asset is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Surpluses/(deficits) on the disposal of tangible assets are credited to income. The surplus or deficit is the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. 

Impairment

Recoverability of the carrying values of long-term assets are reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that such carrying value may not be recoverable. To determine whether a long-term asset may be impaired, the higher of value 
in use or fair value less cost of disposal is compared to the carrying value of the asset/unit. Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss. 

The depreciation method, residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.  

1.7 Impairment 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is 
estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value-in-use. 

In assessing value-in-use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An 
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.6 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
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1.8 Financial instruments 

Financial instruments held by the Group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the Group, as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are debt instruments:

• Amortised cost (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business 
model whose objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows); or

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (This classification automatically applies to all debt instruments which do not 
qualify as at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income).

Financial liabilities:

• Amortised cost; or

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (This applies to contingent consideration in a business combination or to 
liabilities which are held for trading); or

• Designated at fair value through profit or loss (This classification option can be applied when it eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch, the liability forms part of a group of financial instruments managed on a fair value basis, 
or it forms part of a contract containing an embedded derivative and the entire contract is designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss).

Note 31 Financial risk management and note 32 financial instruments presents the financial instruments held by the Group 
based on their specific classifications.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by 
the Group are presented below:

Loans receivable at amortised cost

Classification

Loans to related companies (note 30) and other financial assets (note 4) are classified as financial assets subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group’s business model is to 
collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.

Recognition and measurement

Loans receivable are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans are 
measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. 

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation 
(interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for 
any loss allowance.

Application of the effective interest method

Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method, and is included in profit or loss in investment income (note 24).

The application of the effective interest method to calculate interest income on a loan receivable is dependent on the credit risk 
of the loan as follows:

• The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the loan, provided the loan is not credit impaired. The 
gross carrying amount is the amortised cost before adjusting for a loss allowance.

• If a loan is purchased or originated as credit-impaired, then a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the 
amortised cost in the determination of interest. This treatment does not change over the life of the loan, even if it is no longer 
credit-impaired.

• If a loan was not purchased or originally credit-impaired, but it has subsequently become credit-impaired, then the effective 
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the loan in the determination of interest. If, in subsequent periods, the loan 
is no longer credit impaired, then the interest calculation reverts to applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)



Notes to the financial statements 
for the Chrometco Group for the year ended 29 February 2020   (continued)

45CHROMETCO LIMITED INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on all loans receivable measured at amortised cost. The 
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of 
the respective loans.

The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL) when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a loan has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition, then the loss allowance for that loan is measured at 12-month expected credit losses (12-month ECL).

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
loan. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a loan 
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

In order to assess whether to apply lifetime ECL or 12-month ECL, in other words, whether or not there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group considers whether there has been a significant increase in the risk of 
a default occurring since initial recognition rather than at evidence of a loan being credit impaired at the reporting date or of an 
actual default occurring.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a loan has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of 
a default occurring on the loan as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring as at the date of initial recognition.

The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information 
considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the counterparties operate, obtained from economic expert 
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of 
various external sources of actual and forecast economic information.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the credit risk on a loan is always presumed to have increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has 
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

By contrast, if a loan is assessed to have a low credit risk at the reporting date, then it is assumed that the credit risk on the loan 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk 
before the amount becomes past due.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the 
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. 

The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking 
information as described above. The exposure at default is the gross carrying amount of the loan at the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis in cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk are not yet 
available at the individual instrument level. Loans are then grouped in such a manner that they share similar credit risk 
characteristics, such as nature of the loan, external credit ratings (if available), industry of counterparty, etc.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit 
risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous 
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, and vice versa.

Credit risk 

Details of credit risk related to loans receivable are included in the specific notes and the financial instruments and financial 
risk management (note 31).

Derecognition

Refer to the “derecognition” section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition.

Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of a loan receivable is included in profit or loss in derecognition gains (losses) 
on financial assets at amortised cost.
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Trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets 
subsequently measured at amortised cost (note 6).

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. 
They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative 
amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, 
adjusted for any loss allowance.

Application of the effective interest method

For receivables which contain a significant financing component, interest income is calculated using the effective interest 
method, and is included in profit or loss in investment income (note 24).

The application of the effective interest method to calculate interest income on trade receivables is dependent on the credit risk 
of the receivable as follows:

• The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the receivable, provided the receivable is not credit 
impaired. The gross carrying amount is the amortised cost before adjusting for a loss allowance.

• If a receivable is a purchased or originated as credit-impaired, then a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to 
the amortised cost in the determination of interest. This treatment does not change over the life of the receivable, even if it is no 
longer credit-impaired.

• If a receivable was not purchased or originally credit-impaired, but it has subsequently become credit-impaired, then the 
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the receivable in the determination of interest. If, in subsequent periods, 
the receivable is no longer credit impaired, then the interest calculation reverts to applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount.

Impairment

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses 
(lifetime ECL), which represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of the receivable. 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The customer base is widespread and does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. The 
loss allowance is calculated on a collective basis for all trade and other receivables in totality.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty 
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered 
into bankruptcy proceedings. Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Credit risk

Details of credit risk are included in the trade and other receivables note (note 6) and the financial instruments and risk 
management note (note 31).

Derecognition

Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of trade and other receivables is included in profit or loss in the derecognition 
gains/(losses) on financial assets at amortised cost line item.
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Borrowings and loans from related parties

Classification

Loans from related companies (note 30) and borrowings (note 12) are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Borrowings and loans from related parties are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Interest expense, calculated on the effective interest method, is included in profit or loss in finance costs (note 24).

Borrowings expose the Group to liquidity risk and interest rate risk. Refer to note 31 for details of risk exposure and 
management thereof.

Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 17), excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition, 
at transaction costs.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.

If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest method results in the 
recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit or loss in finance costs (note 24).

Trade and other payables expose the Group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 31 for details of 
risk exposure and management thereof.

Derecognition

Refer to the “derecognition” section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Classification

Financial liabilities which are held for trading are classified as financial liabilities mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

When a financial liability is contingent consideration in a business combination, the Group classifies it as a financial liability at 
fair value through profit or loss.

The Group, does, from time to time, designate certain financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or loss. The reason for 
the designation is to reduce or significantly eliminate an accounting mismatch which would occur if the instruments were not 
classified as such, or if the instrument forms part of a group of financial instruments which are managed and evaluated on a fair 
value basis in accordance with a documented management strategy, or in cases where it forms part of a contract containing an 
embedded derivative and IFRS 9 permits the entire contract to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. They are measured, at initial recognition and subsequently, at fair value. Transaction costs are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Fair value gains or losses recognised on investments at fair value through profit or loss.

For financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, the portion of fair value adjustments which are attributable 
to changes in the Group’s own credit risk, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity in the 
reserve for valuation of liabilities, rather than in profit or loss. However, if this treatment would create or enlarge an accounting 
mismatch in profit or loss, then that portion is also recognised in profit or loss.

Interest paid on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is included in finance costs.

Financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

When a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is denominated in a foreign currency, the fair value of the instrument 
is determined in the foreign currency. The fair value is then translated to the Rand equivalent using the spot rate at the end of 
each reporting period. Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised as part of the fair value adjustment in 
profit or loss. To the extent that the foreign exchange gain or loss relates to the portion of the fair value adjustment recognised in 
other comprehensive income, that portion of foreign exchange gain or loss is included in the fair value adjustment recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the financial instruments (note 32) and 
financial risk management (note 31).

Derecognition

Refer to the derecognition section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition.

The changes in fair value attributable to changes in own credit risk which accumulated in equity for financial liabilities which 
were designated at fair value through profit or loss are not reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, they are transferred directly to 
retained earnings on derecognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount which is deemed to be fair value.

Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method. 

1.9 Revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the transaction price to which the group is entitled to in exchange for transferring 
the promised goods or services to the customer. The transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation which is 
mentioned in the revenue contract. The transaction price is reduced for estimated rebates and settlement discounts receivable, 
and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the performance obligation is satisfied. The performance obligation is 
satisfied when the following conditions are met:

• The Group has delivered the goods at the agreed upon state at the designated location as per the contract, at this point the 
performance obligation is fulfilled. At the present moment this is the only performance obligation for the group and revenue 
is fully recognised at this point.

1.10 Investment income 

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over the 
period to maturity, when it is probable that such income will accrue to the Group.

1.11 Taxation 

Current taxation

Current taxation is recognised as income or an expense and included in the statement of other comprehensive income, except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The current taxation payable 
is based on taxable profit. Taxable profit differs from profit reported in the statement of other comprehensive income where 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.11 Taxation (continued)

there are items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it also excludes items that are not taxable 
or deductible under existing tax legislation.

Current taxation liabilities and current taxation assets are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the 
tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax legislation that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the 
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using the tax rate that is expected 
to apply when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position date. Deferred tax is charged to the statement of comprehensive income. The 
effect on deferred tax of any changes in tax rates is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

The Group only offset deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities only if the Group has the legally enforceable right to do so 
and both the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relates to the same taxable entity.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in the statement of financial position when the following conditions are met:

(a) there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) the group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The offsetting is disaggregated in the notes to show the significant factors that could affect the relationship between accounting 
profit and the tax expense in future.

1.12 Provisions 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as 
finance cost in profit or loss.

Environmental rehabilitation provision

Long-term provisions for environmental rehabilitation costs are based on the Group’s environmental management plans, in 
compliance with applicable environmental and regulatory requirements. 

Rehabilitation work can include facility decommissioning and dismantling, removal or treatment of waste materials, site and 
land rehabilitation, including compliance with and monitoring of environmental regulations, security and other site related costs 
required to perform the rehabilitation work and operations of equipment designed to reduce or eliminate environmental effects. 

Full provision is made based on the net present value of the estimated cost of restoring the environmental disturbance that has 
occurred up to the reporting date. The unwinding of the obligation is accounted for in profit or loss. 

The estimated costs of rehabilitation are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate for changes in legislation, technology or 
other circumstances. Cost estimates are not reduced by the potential proceeds from the sale of assets or from plant clean up at 
closure.

Changes in estimates are capitalised or reversed against the relevant asset, except where a reduction in the provision is greater 
than the remaining net book value of the related asset, in which case the value is reduced to nil and the remaining adjustment is 
recognised in profit or loss. In the case of closed sites, changes in estimates and assumptions are recognised in profit or loss. 
Estimates are discounted at the risk-free rate in the jurisdiction of the obligation.

Increases due to additional environmental disturbances are capitalised and amortised over the remaining lives of the mines. 
These increases are accounted for on a net present value basis. 

Annual contributions are made to a dedicated rehabilitation funding vehicle, to fund the estimated cost of rehabilitation during 
and at the end of the life-of-mine. The amounts contributed to this vehicle are included under non-current assets. Interest 
earned on monies paid to rehabilitation vehicles are accrued on a time proportion basis and is recorded as interest income. 
Bank and other guarantees are provided for funding of the environmental rehabilitation obligations. 
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1.13  Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service.

The provisions for employee entitlements represent the amount, which the Group has a present obligation to pay as a result of 
employees’ services provided to the statement of financial position date. The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted 
amounts based on current wage and salary rates.

 1.14 Inventory 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Costs of stockpiled inventories are determined on the weighted average method. Cost includes production, amortisation and 
related administration costs.

Consumable stores are valued at weighted average cost, after appropriate provision for redundant and slow-moving items.

The net realisable value for the inventories represent the estimated selling price for the inventories, less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Net realisable value is determined with reference to relevant market prices.

1.15  Disposal group assets and liabilities held for sale 

Disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered 
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use when:

• management is committed to a plan to sell;

• the asset is available for immediate sale;

• an active programme to locate a buyer is initiated;

• the sale is highly probable, within 12 months of classification as held for sale (subject to limited exceptions);

• the asset is being actively marketed for sale at a sales price reasonable in relation to its fair value; and

• actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that plan will be significantly changed or withdrawn.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro 
rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets or deferred tax assets, which continue to be measured 
in accordance with the Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and 
subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated.

1.16 Leases 

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 on 1 March 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Refer to note 1.4 for details on the 
impact of the adoption of the standard on the result of the Group.

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.

A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determine whether 
the asset under consideration is "identified", which means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the contract 
and that the supplier does not have a substantial right of substitution throughout the period of use. Once management has 
concluded that the contract deals with an identified asset, the right to control the use thereof is considered. To this end, control 
over the use of an identified asset only exists when the Group has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the 
use of the asset as well as the right to direct the use of the asset.

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease agreements 
for which the Group is a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases of low value assets. For these 
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease 
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are 
consumed.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with 
consideration being allocated to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone prices of the lease components 
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components (where non-lease components exist).

Details of leasing arrangements where the Group is a lessee are presented in note 14 Leases.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• Fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives.

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement 
date.

• The amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees.

• The exercise price of purchase options, if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option.

• Lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option.

• Penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (or right-of-
use asset). The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in profit or loss.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using 
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. Interest charged on the 
lease liability is included in finance costs (note 24).

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when:

• there has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate;

• there has been a change in the assessment of whether the Group will exercise a purchase, termination or extension option, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

• there has been a change to the lease payments due to a change in an index or a rate, in which case the lease liability is 
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is 
due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used);

• there has been a change in expected payment under a residual value guarantee, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate; and

• a lease contract has been modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised payments using a revised discount rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset, or is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to Rnil.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are presented within property, plant and equipment on the Statement of Financial Position.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the right-of-use asset comprise the following:

• The initial amount of the corresponding lease liability.

• Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date.

• Any initial direct costs incurred.

• Any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, when the Group incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories.

• Less any lease incentives received.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. However, 
if a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group 
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying 
asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of a lease.

For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are determined consistently with items 
of the same class of property, plant and equipment. Refer to note 3 for details of useful lives.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If 
the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of a right-of-use asset with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated 
separately. The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset.

1.17 Leases (Comparatives under IAS 17)

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases 

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor 
is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of 
the liability.

Operating leases 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This liability 
is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.18 Stated capital 

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as 
a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

1.19 Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the profit attributable 
to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. Diluted earnings 
per share is determined by adjusting the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, if applicable, and the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue for ordinary shares that may be issued in the future.

1.20 Headline Earnings 

Headline earnings is an additional earnings number that is permitted by IAS 33 Earnings per Share (“IAS 33”) as set out in 
the SAICA Circular 1/2019 (Circular). The starting point is earnings as determined in IAS 33, excluding separately identifiable 
remeasurements net of related tax (both current and deferred) and related non-controlling interest, other than re-measurements 
specifically included in headline earnings. A remeasurement is an amount recognised in profit or loss relating to any change 
(whether realised or unrealised) in the carrying amount of an asset or liability that arose after the initial recognition of such asset 
or liability.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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2. CONSOLIDATION

 
Percentage 
Holding Relationship with the company

29 February 2020    

Black Chrome Mine (Pty) Ltd (ii) 64 Subsidiary of Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd

Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd 51 Subsidiary

Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd 0 Special purpose vehicle refer (i) 

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd 74 Subsidiary

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd 100 Subsidiary

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd 76 Subsidiary of Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd 51 Subsidiary

Koromo (Pty) Ltd 100 Subsidiary

Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd 51 Subsidiary

28 February 2019    

Black Chrome Mine (Pty) Ltd (ii) 64 Subsidiary of Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd

Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd 51 Subsidiary

Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd 0 Special purpose vehicle refer (i) 

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd 74 Subsidiary

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd 100 Subsidiary

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd 76 Subsidiary of Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd 51 Subsidiary

Koromo (Pty) Ltd 100 Subsidiary

Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd 51 Subsidiary

The company’s voting power is in direct proportion to their percentage shareholding. The company has power over the relevant activities 
directed through the voting rights. No judgement was required to determine if the subsidiaries are controlled by the company. The above 
mentioned subsidiaries are incorporated and operate in South Africa.

(i) The Group has control over the special purpose vehicle Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd.

(ii) With effect from 24 March 2020, the name of the Company was changed from Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd to Black Chrome Mine (Pty) Ltd.
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3. TANGIBLE ASSETS

  Notes Mining assets
Mobile mining 

vehicles Other Total

Cost   839 936 190 967 31 989 1 062 892

Accumulated depreciation   (70 918) (18 126) (11 195) (100 239)

Carrying amount  1 March 2018   769 018 172 841 20 794 962 653

           

Additions   142 730 89 039 4 585 236 354

Environmental obligation change in estimate 15 9 649 – – 9 649

Disposals at carrying value   – (115) (21) (136)

Depreciation   (110 722) (53 292) (3 758) (167 772)

Transfer to assets held for sale 9 (64 479) – – (64 479)

           

Cost   926 618 279 820 35 557 1 241 995

Accumulated depreciation   (181 640) (71 347) (13 957) (266 944)

Carrying amount 28 February 2019   744 978 208 473 21 600 975 051

           

Additions   284 805 17 224 4 845 306 874

Environmental obligation change in estimate 15 (1 832) – – (1 832)

Disposals at carrying value   (5 596) – (20) (5 616)

Depreciation   (104 376) (61 162) (4 047) (169 585)

Transfer to assets held for sale 9 64 479 – – 64 479

           

Cost   1 269 692 297 044 39 164 1 605 900

Accumulated depreciation   (283 674) (132 509) (20 346) (436 529)

Carrying amount 29 February 2020   986 018 164 535 18 818 1 169 371

Other tangible assets relate to computer equipment and software, office equipment, furniture and fittings on buildings.

There are no encumbrances other than surety provided on lease assets as per note 14.

Right-of-use assets

Included in Mining assets are right-of-use assets that were recognised as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16. Refer to note 1.4 for 
further details on these buildings.

Costs capitalised

Total costs of R55 million relating to the construction of the processing plant was capitalised during the year.
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4. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000

Onicastar (Pty) Ltd   25 783 25 783

Sail Holdings (Pty) Ltd   6 532 6 532

Other   1 800 3 106

Balance at end of year 32.1 34 115 35 421

The Onicastar loan has the following terms

• Bears interest at prime rate; 

• Repayable out of all distributions made by Rooderand to its shareholders; 

• As security for proper and timeous payment and performance by Onicastar, Onicastar has ceded and pledged all of the shares they 
own in Rooderand to the group. 

Interest of R2,7 million was incurred during the current year, resulting in a total amount of R40 million deemed to be not recoverable and 
impaired as at 29 February 2020 (2019: R37 million) . This is due to the value of the Rooderand group being impaired. Refer to note 9 for 
additional information on the impairment of the Rooderand disposal group.

Sail Holdings (Pty) Ltd (previously known as Grand Slam Enterprise (Pty) Ltd (GSE))

The loan can be called without cause but is classified as non-current due to the expectation of recovery being after 12 months from the 
date of this report.

5. ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION OBLIGATION INVESTMENTS

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
    R’000 R’000

Funds deposited in Guard Risk Insurance Company Limited (“Guard Risk”)      

Balance at beginning of the year   8 051 5 796

Funds invested during the year   3 466 3 260

Interest received   589 528

Management fee   (1 076) (1 533)

Balance at end of year   11 029 8 051

The Group's environmental rehabilitation obligation fund consists of contributions to investment funds held by Guard Risk, which are in 
turn used to provide guarantees to the Department of Mineral Resources (DMR) in terms of rehabilitation and restoration commitments.

The investment held by the Group can be terminated at any point, with three months notice. The Group has the right to choose where 
the funds held with Guard Risk are invested within the Guard Risk portfolio.

The Group earns investment income on funds deposited with Guard Risk at rates linked to short-term money market yields. 
All investment income arising from this asset is re-invested in the Guard Risk fund.

The management fee relates to the management fees charged as per agreement with Guard Risk.
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6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Deposits 757 8 768

Diesel levy 15 549 1 201

Trade receivables 8 945 11 629

Other 734 1 923

Total financial assets 25 985 23 521

VAT receivable 61 691 22 909

Prepayments 35 038 –

Total 122 714 46 430

No receivables are past due or considered to be impaired.

7. INVENTORY     

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Stockpile 295 727 92 727

Consumables 25 671 20 049

Total 321 398 112 776

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 29 February 2020 was R933.4 million (2019: R1.1 billion).

Inventory pledged as security

All inventories at the port, with a total value of R151.4 million (2019: R24.8 million), are held as security as at 29 February 2020 in favour 
of ABSA Bank Limited, in relation to the structured finance facility. Refer to note 16.

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Current account 7 864 44 149

Restricted cash 1 584 1 462

Total 9 448 45 611

The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit ratings.

Restricted cash

Cash had been encumbered as a result of guarantees of R1.6 million (2019:R1.5 million) issued to the Department of Mineral Resources.

Structured finance facility

The structured finance facility was reclassified in the current period. Refer to note 35 for more details.

9. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE

The Group continues to actively explore options to dispose of the Rooderand operation. An offer of purchase was submitted to the 
owners and it is probable that a sale will be finalised within 12 months. There was no impairment of the assets in the current year. In 
2019 R5.1 million was recognised to write down the Rooderand operation to the lower of its carrying amount and its fair value less 
costs to sell. No impairment was identified in the current year. 

The Group’s plan to dispose of the non-mining assets was not finalised during the current year as expected. Management still intends 
to dispose of the assets, but it is not highly probable anymore that the sale will be concluded within the next 12 months. The assets 
have therefore been transferred to property, plant and equipment at year end. 



Notes to the financial statements 
for the Chrometco Group for the year ended 29 February 2020   (continued)

57CHROMETCO LIMITED INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

The results from operations for the disposal group were as follows:

 
29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019

R’000 R’000

Income included    

Total comprehensive income for the year 1 923 3 774

The following assets are included in the disposal group held-for-sale:

 
  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019

Note R’000 R’000

Assets included      

Non-current assets   140 101 213 507

Net intangible assets   140 101 149 028

Intangible assets   145 163 154 090

Impairment   (5 062) (5 062)

Non-mining property plant and equipment 3 – 64 479

Liabilities included   35 101 44 028

Deferred tax   29 965 29 339

Environmental rehabilitation obligation   5 078 14 033

Other   58 656

The non-recurring fair value measurement for the disposal group of R105 million (2019: R105 million) has been categorised as a level 2 
fair value. The fair value was based on what a market participant will pay for the disposal group, based in the best offer received by the 
Group.

10. STATED CAPITAL

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  ’000 ’000

Authorised    

10 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value    

Reconciliation of number of shares issued    

Number of shares at beginning of the period 2 542 429 1 172 429

Allotment    

Shares of no par value issued – 1 370 000

Number of shares at end of the year 2 542 429 2 542 429

Stated capital    

2 542 429 ordinary no par value shares (2019: 2 542 429) 388 512 388 512

9. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE (continued)
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11. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

The Group’s non-controlling interest relates to the following subsidiaries:

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Subsidiaries    

Black Chrome Mine (Pty) Ltd 30 906 79 017

Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd (restated - refer to note 34) 59 734 75 294

Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd (12 152) (8 966)

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd 24 180 24 261

Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd 76 606 73 187

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd (4) –

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd (14) –

Total 179 256 242 793

Non-controlling interests arise on the consolidation of the following entities.

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  % %

Black Chrome Mine (Pty) Ltd (i) 36 36

Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd 49 49

Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd 100 100

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd 26 26

Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd 49 49

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd 24 24

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd 49 49

(i) The Group effectively holds 32,64% in Black Chrome Mine (Pty) Ltd through  64% shareholding by Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd

Set out below is the summarised financial information of significant subsidiaries in the Group. All the entities have a principal place of 
business in the Republic of South Africa and are fully consolidated within the Group financial statements.

Summarised financial information of Black Chrome Mine (Pty) Ltd:    

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Revenue 961 727 561 262

Total comprehensive loss for the year (71 155) (43 438)

Non-current assets 330 508 838 606

Current assets 136 864 55 143

Non-current liabilities (310 196) (946 512)

Current liabilities (125 302) (4 995)

Net assets/(liabilities) 31 874 (57 758)
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Summarised financial information of Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd:

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000
    Restated

Revenue 1 141 492 1 288 085

Total comprehensive loss for the year (33 451) (22 954)

Non-current assets 740 790 426 182

Current assets 355 438 907 611

Non-current liabilities (198 902) (143 606)

Current liabilities (889 684) (1 153 597)

Net assets 7 642 36 590

Summarised financial information of Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd:

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Revenue 936 463 717 172

Total comprehensive loss for the year (3 186) (20 114)

Non-current assets 157 075 53 581

Current assets 143 327 762 231

Non-current liabilities (130 691) (637 081)

Current liabilities (181 977) (187 697)

Net liabilities (12 266) (8 966)

Summarised financial information of Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd:

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Revenue – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (312) 3 774

Non-current assets 150 925 149 028

Current assets –  

Non-current liabilities – (44 028)

Current liabilities (6 857)  

Net assets 144 068 105 000

Summarised financial information of Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd:

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Revenue – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 6 977 (7 148)

Non-current assets 640 89 239

Current assets – 248

Non-current liabilities (1 139) (96 828)

Current liabilities (17) (151)

Net liabilities (516) (7 492)

11. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
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Summarised financial information of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd:

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Revenue – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year (15) (23)

Non-current assets – –

Current assets – –

Non-current liabilities (9 664) –

Current liabilities (4) (9 653)

Net liabilities (9 668) (9 653)

Summarised financial information of Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd:

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Revenue – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year (25) (23)

Non-current assets 519 538

Current assets – –

Non-current liabilities – –

Current liabilities (7) –

Net assets 512 538

12. BORROWINGS

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
Borrowings at 29 February 2020 Note R’000 R’000

Long-term borrowings 32.2 105 259 97 016

IDC Loan (i)   105 259 97 016

Current loans (ii)   19 374 22 282

25 Sunninghill Office Park (Pty) Ltd 32.2 8 409 8 632

Sunninghill Offices 07 (Pty) Ltd 32.2 3 326 4 283

Calculated Property Investments (Pty) Ltd (ii) 32.2 7 639 9 367

Total   124 633 119 298

(i) The lender of this loan is the Industrial Development Corporation. This loan bears interest at a rate of prime +3.3%.  There is a 
24-month interest moratorium on these loans after regulatory approval for the transfer of the mining right is obtained. There are 
fixed repayment terms for this loan, after a three-year capital repayment moratorium after the regulatory approval is obtained. The 
regulatory approval for the transfer of the mining right was received on 18 May 2018, therefore the first payment on this loan is due 
in May 2021.

(ii) Current loans

  A loan facility of R40 million has been made available to the Group by related parties. R19.4 million (2019: R22.3 million) of the 
facility has been used.  The loan facility bears interest at the prime rate. Refer to note 32.2 for additional details on the related party 
facility.

11. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
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12. BORROWINGS (continued)

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
Borrowings movement   R’000 R’000

Opening balance:   119 298 331 364

Interest incurred   10 438 11 207

Borrowings repayment   (5 103) (38 446)

Loans obtained from related parties   – 25 058

Loan settlement as part of acquisition of Sail Resources   – (80 332)

Loan acquired as part of transactions with shareholders   – 27 731

Change in estimate Other expenses   – 1 596

Change in estimate (i)   – 8 338

Other   – –

Transaction with shareholders: conversion of borrowings to loans   – (167 218)

Closing balance   124 633 119 298

Non-current   105 259 97 016

Current   19 374 22 282

(i) Change in estimate relating to loans settled upon acquisition of Sail Resources (Pty) Ltd.

13. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd (i) 31 37 720 37 250

Sail Logistics Pty Ltd 31 825 1 694

Sail Mining CC 31 3 712 3 722

Total   42 257 42 666

Non-current liabilities   37 720 42 666

Current liabilities   4 537 –

Total   42 257 42 666

(i) The balance owing to Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd, previously known as BBA Resources Pte Ltd, bears no interest. While the 
loan has no fixed terms of repayment, it will not be repaid within 12 months from 29 February 2020.

14. LEASE LIABILITY

14.1 Leasing arrangement

The Group leases certain of its mining equipment and Volvo mining vehicles under financing leases. The assets leased in the 
current period have been capitalised as mining assets (R18.1 million) and as mobile mining vehicles (R69.4 million) in note 3. The 
average terms are for the majority of the useful life of the assets, the Volvo mining vehicles is expected to have a residual value 
of R34.5 million at the end of the useful life.

The interest rate underlying all obligations under leases are fixed at the beginning of the respective contracts dates, and range 
from prime +0.5% to 13.25%.

There are no contingent payables on these leases. The lease contracts do not allow for the resale or subleasing of the assets 
while there are amounts outstanding on the lease agreement. There are no restrictions on the use of the leased assets.

All assets which are subject to lease are held as collateral to the lessor. The total assets which are subject to a lease have a cost 
of R268.3 million (2019: R169.9 million) and have a carrying amount of R209.7 million (2019: R145.9 million).
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Details pertaining to leasing arrangements, where the company is lessee are presented below:

The company adopted IFRS 16 for the first time in the current financial period. Comparative figures have been accounted for 
in accordance with IAS 17 and accordingly, any assets recognised under finance leases in accordance with IAS 17 for the 
comparative have been recognised as part of property, plant and equipment. The information presented in this note for right-of-
use assets therefore only includes the current period.

The net carrying amount of right-of-use assets (buildings) included under Mining assets in note 3 is R11.2 million.

14.2 Lease liability – minimum lease payments due

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Not later than 1 year 89 851 73 352

Later than one year, but not later than three years 98 332 30 000

Total 188 183 103 352

Less: future finance charges 28 490 11 251

Present value of minimum lease payments 159 693 92 101

Included in the financial statements    

Lease liability 159 693 92 101

Non-current liabilities 87 878 32 287

Current liabilities 71 815 59 814

15. ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION PROVISION

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Provision for rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining    

Balance at beginning of year 22 370 11 980

Interest expense (i) 1 827 741

Change in estimate (ii) (1 832) 9 649

Balance at end of year 22 365 22 370

(i) The provision is calculated based on the discount rates of 9.5% (2019: 8.17%)

(ii) The change in estimate is as the IFRIC 1 adjustment as result of changes in the reserves and resources, changes to the life of mine, 
changes to discount rate and/or changes to inflation.

16. STRUCTURED FINANCE FACILITY

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000

ABSA Bank Limited 35 294 992 97 634

Total   294 992 97 634

The ABSA Bank Limited facility relates to cash that has been drawn down on revenue contracts, giving rise to a short-term liability to be 
settled in terms of the revenue contract. Inventory at port is held as security, refer to note 7. 

The facility is provided on a deal by deal basis. The drawdown covers 90% (2019: 80%) of a sales invoice and is settled when a 
customer settles their account. ABSA Bank Limited withholds a service fee per deal, that varies per deal. Outstanding balances incur 
interest at 4.5% p.a.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000
      Restated

Trade Payables – third parties   292 047 103 431

Trade Payables – related party 30.3 299 564 263 357

Royalty tax payable   8 504 6 629

Total financial liabilities   600 115 373 417

VAT payable   17 967 1 810

Total   618 082 375 227

18. REVENUE

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000
    Restated

Export sales of Chrome 1 137 943 1 282 543

Local sales of Chrome 3 549 45 380

Total 1 141 492 1 327 923

Revenue is recognised once the Chrome is delivered at the location as per the contract – once the delivery occurs at the contractual 
location then the performance obligations are satisfied. The Group only has one revenue stream, which is the sale of chrome minerals, 
the only distinguishing factor available is local and export sales. This is how management manages the different revenue streams.

Prior period error

The 2019 export sales amount was restated. Refer to note 34 for the impact of the restatement.

19. COST OF SALES

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Cost of sales – direct 48 597 532 210

Cost of sales – indirect 503 608 173 544

Cost of sales – logistics 381 200 355 921

Total 933 405 1 061 675

20.DEPRECIATION

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Depreciation 169 585 167 772

Total 169 585 167 772

21. OTHER INCOME

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Other income 16 541 6 240

Total 16 541 6 240

Other income mainly relates to diesel levy claims and insurance claims recovered.
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22.OTHER EXPENSES

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Operating expenses include:    

Banking 7 516 1 287

Change in estimate adjustment – 1 596

Commission 5 345 3 183

Community and local development 495 2 389

Computer expenses 3 429 1 518

Foreign exchange losses 55 164 53 247

Insurance 7 313 5 386

Legal fees – 5 171

Medical expenses – 20

SAGE fees – 3 564

Travel and accommodation 2 542 2 267

Other 177 4 578

Total 81 981 84 206

23. IMPAIRMENT

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000

Non-current assets held for sale – 5 062

Other financial assets 4 814 3 676

Goodwill – 40 465

Total 4 814 49 203

The impairment of other financial assets related to the write down of the Onicastar loan interest incurred during the year as well as the 
impairment of the loan to Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd.

24. INVESTMENT INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
    R’000 R’000

Interest received from Guard Risk fund environmental rehabilitation fund   589 1 274

Interest received on loans   2 731 –

Other interest received   201 –

Finance costs on environmental rehabilitation unwinding   (2 974) (741)

Finance costs on borrowings, finance lease, structured finance facility and trade payables   (32 887) (47 327)

Total   (32 340) (46 794)

Total investment income   3 521 1 274

Total finance costs   (35 861) (48 068)
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25.TAXATION

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000
    Restated

South African normal tax    

Current tax (220) –

Deferred tax 32 388 11 072

Sub-total 32 168 11 072

25.1 Reconciliation of tax rate 

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  % %
    Restated

South African normal tax rate 28.00 28.00

Adjusted for:    

Non-deductible/taxable expenditure/income (2.87) (11.35)

Capital consulting fees (0.14) (1.92)

Donations (0.06) (0.57)

Expenditure with no support – (0.46)

Fines and penalties (0.12) (0.02)

Goodwill impairments – (7.57)

Legal expenses (1.95) (0.53)

Royalty tax payable – (1.24)

Other expenditure (0.60) 0.96

Derecognition of recognised deferred tax assets1 – (9.26)

Effective tax rate 25.13 7.39

1 This relates to deferred tax assets to which there is uncertainty relating to futures taxable income and therefore, are deemed 
to not be recoverable.

25.2 Estimated tax losses

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is not probable at year-end that taxable profit will be available in the 
foreseeable future against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

25.3 Deferred tax liabilities

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000
    Restated

Movement schedule    

At beginning of year (106 898) (117 647)

Charge for the year 32 388 11 072

Change in accounting policy 1 184 –

Other – (323)

At end of year (73 326) (106 898)
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The detailed components of the net deferred tax liabilities which result from the differences between the amounts of assets and 
liabilities recognised for financial reporting purposes are: 

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000
    Restated

Gross deferred tax assets    

Assessed loss 70 975 58 751

Unredeemed capex 82 750 70 404

Provisions 7 511 6 730

Loan receivable 8 770 9 336

Rehab asset 1 203 –

Total assets 171 209 145 221

Gross deferred tax liabilities    

Mining asset (206 590) (228 857)

Non-mining asset (2 146) –

Loans payable (1 403) (6 688)

Leases (15 375) (13 970)

Trade payables (9 018) (2 237)

Prepayments (10 003) –

Other liability – (367)

Total liabilities (244 535) (252 119)

Total net deferred tax (73 326) (106 898)

Total deferred tax assets 100 3 524

Total deferred tax liabilities (73 426) (110 422)

The below table shows the deferred tax balance per entity:

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000
    Restated

Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd 100 3 524

Black Chrome Mine (Pty) Ltd (64 282) (77 687)

Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd (9 144) (32 735)

Total net deferred tax (73 326) (106 898)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in the balance sheet to the extent that the Group has the legally enforceable right to 
do so and both the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relates to the same taxable entity.

The deferred tax is expected to be recovered over the life of mine of 11 years based on the measured mineral reserves and long-
term average chrome price of US$160/t. The chrome price is highly volatile and to remain conservative a lower price than the 
historic average market price was used to determine if the Group will make sufficient taxable income to utilise the deferred tax 
asset within the Group. The Group is expected to make sufficient taxable income to utilise the deferred tax asset.

25. TAXATION (continued)

25.3 Deferred tax liabilities (continued)
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26.BOARD OF DIRECTORS

26.1 Directors’ emoluments

 
For services 
as directors Remuneration Total

  R’000 R’000 R’000

2020      

Executives      

L McCann – 4 131 4 131

M Naude – 1 439 1 439

Prescribed officers      

W Yang – 765 765

P Kiszkurno – 5 100 5 100

H Posthumus – 2 281 2 281

K Gloy – 6 959 6 959

H Mackenzie – 2 326 2 326

Subtotal   23 001 23 001

Non-executives      

BL Sibiya 500 – 500

LJ Jordaan 180 – 180

NP Thomas 300 – 300

Subtotal 980 – 980

Total 980 23 001 23 981

 
For services as 

directors Remuneration Total
  R’000 R’000 R’000

2019      

Executives      

M Naude – 1 305 1 305

NL Waisberg – 1 212 1 212

Prescribed officers      

W Yang – 700 700

L McCann – 2 153 2 153

K Gloy – 5 523 5 523

H Mackenzie – 2 320 2 320

Subtotal   13 213 13 213

Non-executives      

BL Sibiya 500 – 500

LJ Jordaan 112 – 112

NP Thomas 300 – 300

Subtotal 912 – 912

Total 912 13 213 14 125

All emoluments are short-term in nature.

26.2 Changes to the board

On 8 May 2020, the following director was appointed:

L McCann (Chief Executive Officer)
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27. LOSS PER SHARE

27.1 Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share at 29 February 2020 is based on a loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of R33.9 
million (2019: R78.2 million) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 29 February 
2020 of 2 542 429 (2019: 2 219 634), calculated as follows:

  Number of shares Weighted average number of shares

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019 29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
        Restated

Weighted average number of ordinary shares        

Issued shares at beginning of year 2 542 429 1 172 429 2 542 429 1 172 429

Movement for the year – 1 370 000 – 1 047 205

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of 
year 2 542 429 2 542 429 2 542 429 2 219 634

Loss per share (cents)     (1.33) (3.52)

27.2 Diluted loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share at 29 February 2020 is based on a loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of R33.9 
million (2019: R78.2 million) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 29 February 
2020 of 2 542 429 (2019: 2 219 634), calculated as follows:

  Number of shares Weighted average number of shares

  29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019 29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
        Restated

Weighted average number of ordinary shares        

Issued shares at beginning of year 2 542 429 1 172 429 2 542 429 1 172 429

Movement for the year   1 370 000   1 047 205

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of 
year 2 542 429 2 542 429 2 542 429 2 219 634

Loss per share (cents)     (1.33) (3.52)

27.3 Headline loss per share

The calculation of headline loss per share and diluted headline loss per share at 29 February 2020 is based on the loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of R33.9 million (2019: R78.2 million) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year ended 29 February 2020 of 2 542 429 (2019: 2 219 634).

  29 Feb 2020 29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019 28 Feb 2019
  Gross Net Gross Net
Headline earnings reconciliation R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
        Restated

Loss after taxation attributable to equity holders of the 
Group (33 855) (33 855) (78 200) (78 200)

Gain on bargain purchase – – – –

Impairment, net of tax 4 814 3 466 49 203 44 509

Change in estimate – – – –

Headline earnings (29 041) (30 389) (28 997) (33 691)

Weighted average number shares in issue   2 542 429   2 219 634

Diluted weighted average number shares in issue   2 542 429   2 219 634

Headline loss per share (cents)   (1.20)   (1.52)

Diluted headline loss per share (cents)   (1.20)   (1.52)
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28.  CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has authorised and approved capital commitments of R374.6 million (2019: R10.41 million) for capital expenditure which 
relates to the stay in business capital and the expansion of the processing plant.

29.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no contingent liabilities as at 29 February 2020 (2019: Rnil).

30.RELATED PARTIES

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties to the Group, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. All other related party transactions are disclosed below.

30.1 Related party and the nature of the relationship

Onicastar (Pty) Ltd

Onicastar is one of the shareholders of Rooderand (Pty) Ltd. 

Sail Holdings (Pty) Ltd

Holds 2.2675 billion ordinary shares of the issued share capital in Chrometco

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd, previously known as BBA Resources Pte Ltd

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd is a Singapore company to which the Group sells most of its ore.

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd is related to one of the major shareholders of the Group.

25 Sunninghill Office Park (Pty) Ltd

This entity is related to one of the major shareholders of the Group.

Sunninghill Offices 07 (Pty) Ltd

This entity is related to one of the major shareholders of the Group.

Calculated Property Investments (Pty) Ltd

This entity is related to one of the major shareholders of the Group.

Phokathaba Platinum (Pty) Ltd

This entity is related to one of the major shareholders of the Group.

30.2 Income statement transactions

During the year the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties that are not members of the group:

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000

Sales to Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd 18 1 137 943 1 282 543

Purchases from Phokathaba Platinum (Pty) Ltd   (25 505) –

Total   1 112 438 1 282 543

30.3 Statement of financial position transactions

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000

Loans receivable from related parties      

Onicastar (Pty) Ltd 4 25 783 25 783

Sail Holdings (Pty) Ltd 4 6 532 6 532

Phokathaba Platinum (Pty) Ltd   28 –

Total   32 315 32 315

Refer to note 4 for the terms of the loan.
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    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000

Loan payable to      

25 Sunninghill Office Park (Pty) Ltd 12 (8 409) (8 632)

Sunninghill Offices 07 (Pty) Ltd 12 (3 326) (4 283)

Calculated Property Investments (Pty) Ltd 12 (7 639) (9 367)

Total   (19 374) (22 282)

These loans bear interest at prime interest rate.

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000

Accounts payable to Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd   (256 260) (263 357)

Accounts payable to Phokathaba Platinum (Pty) Ltd   (43 304) –

Accounts payable to 25 Sunninghill Office Park (Pty) Ltd   (339) –

Total 17 (299 564) (263 357)

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000

Amounts owed to related parties      

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd 13 (37 720) (37 250)

Sail Logistics (Pty) Ltd 13 (2 234) (1 694)

Sail Mining CC 13 (3 711) (3 722)

Total   (43 665) (42 666)

The balance owing to Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd, previously known as BBA Resources Pte Ltd, bears no interest and 
has no fixed terms of repayment within 12 months from 29 February 2020.

The amounts are repayable in cash. Refer to note 32 for details regarding the fair value.

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. The main purpose of 
these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group’s principal financial assets include loans, trade and other 
receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that derive directly from its operations.

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s senior management oversees the management of 
these risks and ensure that the financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are 
identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout the 
financial statements.

31.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading 
to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its other 
financing activities (refer to note 6), including deposits with banks and financial institutions (refer to note 8) and foreign exchange 
transactions.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of each counterparty, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis. The credit risk currently mainly arises from trade-related financial assets.

30. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

30.3 Statement of financial position transactions (continued)
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The exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount 
of these instruments. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date for the recoverability of trade and other 
receivables and other financial assets. The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as 
its customers are located in several jurisdictions and industries and operate in largely independent markets.

All assets which are subject to lease are held as collateral to the lessor, these are the only assets held as collateral for the 
Group. Refer to note 14 for additional information.

31.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when due, under 
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, 
inter-company loans, trade payables, trade receivables and finance leases.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

    On demand
3 to 

12 months 1 to 3 years > 5 years Total
Year ended 29 February 2020 Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12 – 19 374 105 168 30 048 154 590

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd 13 – – 37 720 – 37 720

Sail Logistics Pty Ltd 13 – – 825 – 825

Sail Mining CC 13 – – 3 711 – 3 711

Trade and other payables 17 272 510 343 855 – – 616 365

Leases 14 – 73 523 114 660 – 188 183

    272 510 436 752 262 084 30 048 1 001 394

Discounted carrying amounts

    On demand
3 to 

12 months 1 to 3 years > 5 years Total
Year ended 29 February 2020 Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12 – 19 374 61 401 43 858 124 633

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd 13 – – 37 720 – 37 720

Sail Logistics Pty Ltd 13 – – 825 – 825

Sail Mining CC 13 – – 3 711 – 3 711

Trade and other payables 17 256 260 343 855 – – 600 115

Leases 14 – 71 815 87 878 – 159 693

    256 260 435 044 191 535 43 858 926 697

    On demand
3 to 

12 months 1 to 3 years > 5 years Total
Year ended 28 February 2019 Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12 – 22 282 45 610 121 857 189 749

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd 13 – – 37 250 – 37 250

Sail Logistics Pty Ltd 13 – – 1 694 – 1 694

Sail Mining CC 13 – – 3 722 – 3 722

Trade and other payables 17 283 716 106 829 – – 390 545

Leases 14 18 338 55 014 30 000 – 103 352

    302 054 184 125 118 276 121 857 726 312

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

31.1 Credit risk (continued)
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Discounted carrying amounts

    On demand
3 to 

12 months 1 to 3 years > 5 years Total
Year ended 28 February 2019 Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12 – 22 282 – 97 016 119 298

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd 13 – – 37 250 – 37 250

Sail Logistics Pty Ltd 13 – – 1 694 – 1 694

Sail Mining CC 13 – – 3 722 – 3 722

Trade and other payables 17 283 716 106 829 – – 390 545

Leases 14 17 400 52 201 22 499 – 92 100

    301 116 181 312 65 165 97 016 644 609

31.3 Market risk and interest rate risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices and have an adverse impact on the business. The Group is mainly exposed to the risk that interest rates will adversely 
change and affect borrowings since most borrowings are at the prime rate plus a borrowing factor. This risk is monitored by the 
Group and managed by fixing the amount of borrowings with fluctuating interest rates.

31.4 Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of certain transactions which are denominated in foreign currencies. 
Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters. The foreign currency in which the company deals is 
US Dollars.

The Group does not consider currency risk to be material. The only currency risk the company is exposed to is if a revenue deal 
is draw down against with the trade finance facility prior to the deal being settled. The Group mitigates this risk by taking out 
hedging positions when the exposure is believed to be too much.

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The Group expects its foreign 
exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency exposure.

There have been no significant changes in the foreign currency risk management policies and processes since the prior 
reporting period.

Exposure in Rand

The net carrying amounts, in Rand, of the various exposures, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have 
been presented in Rand by converting the foreign currency amounts at the closing rate at the reporting date:

US Dollar exposure:

Current Liabilities: 2020 2019

Borrowings (Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd) – USD 2 408 424 (2019: USD 2 661 866) (37 720) (37 251)

Structured finance facility (ABSA Bank Limited) – USD 18 835 372 (2019: USD nil) (294 998) –

Trade and other payables (Trade creditors) – USD 16 361 924 (2019: USD 21 917 445) (256 240) (306 713)

Net US Dollar exposure (588 958) (343 964)

Exchange rates

Rand per unit foreign currency:

US Dollar 15.662 13.994

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

31.2 Liquidity risk (continued)
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31.5 Capital management

The Group’s capital consists of the share capital and retained earnings as presented in the statement of changes in equity.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital 
ratios (e.g. return on capital) in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed 
capital requirements from the previous year.

32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The tables below detail the potential exposure of the financial instruments. The Group has sufficient policies in place to mitigate these 
risks.

32.1    Credit risk   

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019

 
Notes R’000 R’000

Restated

Exposure to credit risk      

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposed to 
credit risk.      

The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date was:      

Other financial assets 4 34 115 35 421

Environmental rehabilitation obligation investments 5 11 029 8 051

Trade and other receivables   6 25 985 23 521

Cash and cash equivalents 8 9 448 45 611

Total maximum exposure to credit risk   80 577 112 604

Concentration of credit risk by geographic location:      

The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk by geographical region at 
reporting date is as follows:      

Domestic   80 577 112 604

Total maximum exposure to credit risk   80 577 112 604

For all of the above classes of financial asset, no collateral is held as security and 
there are no credit enhancements in place.      

Concentrations of credit risk by receivable category:      

The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk by receivable type at 
reporting date is as follows:      

Other financial assets 4 34 115 35 421

Environmental rehabilitation obligation investments 5 11 029 8 051

Trade and other receivables   6 25 985 23 521

Cash and cash equivalents 8 9 448 45 611

Total maximum exposure to credit risk   80 577 112 604

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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32.2 Liquidity risk

Financial instruments exposed to liquidity risk:

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019

 
Notes R’000 R’000

Restated

Balance of loans payable      

Structured finance facility 16 294 992 97 634

Trade and other payables 17 600 115 373 417

Lease liabilities 14 159 693 92 101

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd 13 37 720 37 250

Sail Logistics (Pty) Ltd 13 825 1 694

Sail Mining CC 13 3 712 3 722

IDC loan 12 105 259 97 016

25 Sunninghill Office Park (Pty) Ltd 12 8 409 8 632

Sunninghill Offices 07 (Pty) Ltd 12 3 326 4 283

Calculated Property Investments (Pty) Ltd (ii) 12 7 639 9 367

32.3 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-
term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and borrowings.

Profile

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group and the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments were:

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Notes R’000 R’000

Variable rate instruments – carrying amounts      

Financial assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents 8 9 448 45 611

Financial liabilities:      

Borrowings 12 105 259 97 016

Lease liabilities 14 159 693 92 101

Structured finance facility 16 294 992 97 634

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by the 
amounts shown below. The sensitivity analysis was calculated by multiplying the year-end balances by the increase or decrease 
in the interest rate. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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  Increase/ 29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  decrease R’000 R’000

Variable rate instruments – carrying amounts      

Financial assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents 100 94 456

Cash and cash equivalents (100) (94) (456)

Financial liabilities:      

Borrowings 100 1 053 970

Borrowings (100) (1 053) (970)

Finance leases 100 1 597 921

Finance leases (100) (1 597) (921)

Structured finance facility 100 2 950 976

Structured finance facility (100) (2 950) (976)

32.4 Fair value disclosure

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

• Trade receivables/payables, and cash and cash equivalents

The carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the short maturity of these instruments.

• Investments and environmental rehabilitation obligation funds

The environmental trust fund is stated at fair value based on the nature of the fund’s investments

• Borrowings

The fair value of borrowings approximates its carrying amounts as the impact of credit risk is included in the measurement 
of carrying amounts.

• Other financial assets

The fair value of other financial assets approximates its carrying amounts as the impact of credit risk is included in the 
measurement of carrying amounts.

• Other financial liabilities

The fair value of other financial liabilities has been determined. The fair value of the loans from Sail Mining CC and the 
loan from Sail Logistics (Pty) Ltd approximates the carrying amount as it is classified as current. The fair value of the Sail 
International Marketing Pte Ltd is determined as R36.9 million (carrying amount R37.7 million). The total other financial 
liabilities fair value is R42.3 million (carrying amount R41.4 million).

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019

 
Notes R’000 R’000

Restated

Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd      

Fair value   36 875 34 343

Carrying value (loan amount) 13 37 720 37 250

The fair value of the Sail International Marketing loan is determined by discounting the loan over the expected repayment term.

The loan is a USD denominated loan therefore the USD average Libor rate for a 12 month maturity is used to estimate the 
expected discount rate, the rate applied is 1.139% (2019: 2.745%).

The loan is expected to be repaid 2 years from the 2020 financial year therefore a discount period of 2 years is used (2019: 3 
years) to determine the present value of the loan.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32.3 Interest rate risk (continued)
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Fair value
through

profit or loss
Loans and

receivables

Liabilities at
Amortised

Cost
  Notes R’000 R’000 R’000

2020        

Environmental rehabilitation obligation investments1 5 11 029 – –

Other financial assets 4 – 34 115 –

Cash and cash equivalents 8 – 9 448 –

Borrowings 12 – – 124 633

Other financial liabilities 13 – – 42 257

Trade payables 17 – – 600 115

Structured finance facility 16 – – 294 992

2019        

Environmental rehabilitation obligation investments1 5 8 051 – –

Other financial assets 4 – 35 421 –

Cash and cash equivalents 8 – 45 611 –

Borrowings 12 – – 119 298

Other financial liabilities 13 – – 42 666

Trade payables 17 – – 390 545

Bank overdraft 16 – – 97 634

1 The environmental rehabilitation obligation funds is a level 1 fair value measurement, due to being a money market investment. 

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32.4 Fair value disclosure (continued)
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33.NOTES TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT

    29 Feb 2020 28 Feb 2019
  Note R’000 R’000
      Restated

Net loss before taxation   (128 017) (149 646)

Adjusted for      

Depreciation of tangible assets 20 169 585 167 772

Investment income 24 (3 320) (1 274)

Finance cost 24 43 559 48 068

Impairment 23 4 814 49 203

Change in estimate   – 1 596

Foreign exchange movement   55 164 –

Fair value loss   (1 173) –
Royalty tax payable   – 6 629

Finance lease charges   – 5 689

Other   – 1 897

Operating profit before working capital changes   140 612 129 934

Working capital changes   – –

Increase in trade and other receivables   (76 284) (28 692)

Increase in inventory   (208 622) 51 312

Increase in trade and other payables   243 293 115 031

Increase in structured finance facility   142 194 12 089

Working capital changes   100 581 149 740

Refer to note 34 and 35.

34.PRIOR PERIOD ERROR

In the prior year, financial statements revenue was understated due to a calculation error on consolidation. This error has been 
corrected in the comparative figures of the 2020 financial statements, impacting on revenue, tax, retained earnings, non-controlling 
interest and trade payables.

The correction of the error resulted in adjustments as follows:

  28 Feb 2019   28 Feb 2019
  R’000   R’000

 
Previously 
disclosed Adjustment Restated

Statement of Financial Position      

Decrease in accumulated loss (102 380) 7 699 (94 681)

Increase in non-controlling interest 235 396 7 397 242 793

Decrease in trade payables 395 586 (20 359) 375 227

(Sail International Marketing)      

Increase in deferred tax 105 160 5 262 110 422

Statement of comprehensive income      

Increase in revenue 1 307 564 20 359 1 327 923

Decrease in taxation 16 334 (5 262) 11 072

Decrease in loss for the year (153 671) 15 097 (138 574)
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35.COMPARATIVE FIGURES      

In the prior year, the ABSA facility was used similar to a bank overdraft facility and was therefore classified as cash and cash 
equivalents. In the current year, the Group started using the ABSA facility as a rolling facility resulting in settlement of the of deals when 
a customer settles their account. As the facility becomes available again, drawdowns are made on sales invoices.

The facility no longer forms an integral part of the entity’s cash management as the balance of a banking arrangement does not often 
fluctuate from being negative to positive as required by IAS 7. The Group accordingly did not disclose the structured finance facility as 
cash and cash equivalents in the current year. 

The comparative figures in the cash flow statement was restated taking the above change into account. 

36.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the Corona virus (COVID-19) a global health emergency. The South 
African national lockdown became effective at midnight on 26 March 2020 and lasted until 30 April 2020, before we could continue 
operations.

During this period, the processing operations continued production at reduced levels, by processing ore stockpiles. The impact of 
COVID-19 on the Group was mainly attributable to the supply of chrome from Black Chrome Mine's (BCM) underground operations. 
Underground production at BCM was in care and maintenance for the entire five-week April lockdown period. To make up for the lost 
production the following measures were implemented: 

 - the December break replaces 10 days of the first lockdown; and

 - the production lost during the second lockdown period will be made up by working back one full weekend every month for the 
remaining 7 months of the year.

During May 2020, the underground operations effectively operated at 75% of normal production. From June 2020, the underground 
operations are back at full capacity. Opencast operated at full capacity from 1 May 2020. 

The five-week lockdown resulted in a short term shortfall in supply of chrome due to a significant decrease in chrome production 
in South Africa and the resulting decrease in exports of chrome to China. The shortfall in supply caused the price of 42% UG2 
Concentrate CIF to increase from USD114 per ton on 10 April 2020 to USD167.5 per ton on 31 May 2020. The price subsequently 
decreased to USD132 per ton towards the end of July 2020. Additionally, the weak rand has further increased sales in Rand terms.

The ultimate impact on the Group is an expected increased profitability for the 2021 year due to the increased chrome prices, weak 
Rand and production expected to make up for the April 2020 shortfall. The Group was able to feed stockpiles to the chrome processing 
plant during the lockdown period, reducing the impact of the lockdown.

The directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

37. GOING CONCERN

With underground production levels at Black Chrome Mine back to 100% from 1 June 2020, together with the increased Rand Chrome 
market prices, the directors believe that the Group will generate sufficient cash from operations to continue as a going concern for the 
next 12 months. The directors are not aware of any material changes that may adversely impact the Group.

The chrome price drops and rises significantly throughout the year. This movement in the chrome price results in periods when the 
chrome price falls below the Group's breakeven price. This can be seen in the movement of the chrome price between USD114 per ton 
and USD167.50 per tons since 29 February 2020.

The market outlook is difficult to predict due to the uncertainties created by the impact of COVID-19, but the medium- to long-term 
fundamentals for chrome ore remain strong and prices must increase significantly for the market to stabilise over this period.

As at 29 February 2020, the Groups current liabilities exceed its current assets by R450.2 million (2019: R180.7 million). Of the trade 
payables, R256 million (2019: R306 million) is payable to Sail International Marketing Pte Ltd, a related party, and the terms of payment 
are currently under negotiation in order to improve the liquidity position of the Group. The Group generated cash from operating 
activities of R223.2 million (2019: R276.0 million) and incurred a loss for the year of R95.8 million (2019: R138.6 million). 
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The directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending changes 
to legislation which may affect the Group. The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable 
to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

38.MINERAL RESERVES AND MINERAL RESOURCES

There have been no published changes to the Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources, as disclosed in the Annual Financial Report 
dated 28 February 2019.

39.DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been declared or paid for the period (28 Feb 2019: R nil).

40.SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS

  Number of   Number of  
  shareholders Percentage shares Percentage

Shareholder spread        

1 – 1 000 shares 214 25 82 146 –

1 001 – 10 000 shares 311 36 1 479 672 –

10 001 – 100 000 shares 247 28 9 358 809 –

100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 72 8 21 128 461 1

1 000 001 – 10 000 000 shares 20 2 82 638 926 3

10 000 001 shares and over 6 1 2 427 740 669 96

  870 100 2 542 428 683 100

Public/non-public shareholders        

Directors’ holding 1 – 7 930 743 –

Strategic holding more than 3% – – – –

Sail Holding Pty Ltd 1 – 2 267 500 000 89

Public shareholders 868 100 266 997 940 11

  870 100 2 542 428 683 100
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
CHROMETCO LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO ISIN: ZAE000070249
(“Chrometco” or “the Company”)

In terms of section 62(3)(a) of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, 
as amended (“the Companies Act”), notice is hereby given to 
the shareholders of Chrometco that the annual general meeting 
(“AGM”) of will be held in the boardroom, at Chrometco (Pty) Ltd, 
Unit 25 Sunninghill Office Park, Sunninghill, Johannesburg on 
Friday, 18 September 2020 at 10:00 and if deemed fit, passing 
with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions 
set out in the notice of AGM (“Notice”), as well as such other 
matters as may be required to be dealt with at the AGM in terms of 
the Companies Act.

Record Dates

The board of directors of Chrometco (“the Board”) has determined 
in terms of section 62(3)(a), read together with section 59(1)(b) 
of the Companies Act of South Africa, the record date on which 
a shareholder must be registered in the securities register of 
Chrometco for the purposes of determining which shareholders of 
Chrometco are entitled to:

• Received notice of the AGM is Tuesday, 18 August; and

• Participate in and vote on the resolutions to be proposed at the 
AGM is Friday, 11 September 2020.

Accordingly, the last day to trade Chrometco shares in order to 
be recorded in the securities register of Chrometco in order to be 
entitled to participate and vote at the AGM will be Tuesday, 8 
September 2020.

Action by shareholders

Certificated shareholders or “own name” registered dematerialised 
shareholders are entitled to attend, participate and vote at the AGM 
or any adjournment thereof or may appoint one or more proxies 
to attend, speak and vote thereat in their stead. A proxy need not 
be a shareholder or member of the Board. Completion of a form 
of proxy will not preclude such shareholder from attending and 
voting (in preference to that shareholder’s proxy) at the AGM or any 
adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised shareholders (not with “own- name” registration) 
must notify their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) 
or broker of their intention to attend the AGM in order for such 
CSDP or broker to be able to issue them with the necessary letter 
of representation to enable them to attend the AGM or, alternatively, 
should the dematerialised shareholder not wish to attend the 
AGM, they should provide their CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions.

For administrative purposes only, we request that forms of 
Proxy be delivered to Computershare Investor Services Pty 
Ltd (“Computershare”), by no later than 11:00 on Wednesday, 
16 September 2020 (or 48 hours before any adjournments of 
the AGM, which date, if necessary, will be notified on SENS). 
Completed forms can also be emailed to Computershare (proxy@
computershare.co.za).

Thereafter, forms of proxy may be handed to the Chairperson 
of the AGM, at the AGM, before voting on a particular resolution 
commences.

At the AGM, each shareholder will have voting rights determined 
in terms of the voting rights attaching to the shares held by such 
shareholder as set out in the memorandum of incorporation of the 
Company (“MOI”).

AGM participants will be required to provide identification to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the Chairperson of the AGM. An official 
identification document issued by the South African Department 
of Home Affairs, a driver’s license or a valid passport will be 
accepted as sufficient identification. Shareholders who have any 
doubt as to the action they are required to take in respect of the 
following resolutions should consult their CSDP, broker, banker, 
attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Electronic participation

1. Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the AGM by 
way of telephone conference call (“teleconference facility”).

2. Please note that the teleconference facility will only allow 
shareholders to listen in and raise questions during the 
allocated time. Shareholders will not be able to vote using the 
teleconference facility. Should such shareholders wish to vote, 
they must either:

• complete the proxy form and return it to the transfer secretary 
in accordance with paragraph 3 above; or

• contact their CSDP or broker in accordance with paragraph 6 
above.

3. Shareholders or their proxies who wish to participate in the 
AGM via the teleconference facility must notify the Company 
by emailing the company secretary Chrometco’s Company 
Secretary, Acorim Pty Ltd, to  by no later than Wednesday, 16 
September 2020. The company secretary will first validate such 
requests and confirm the identity of the shareholder in terms of 
section 63(1) of the Companies Act and thereafter, if validated, 
provide further details on using the teleconference facility. Only 
a total of 20 telecommunication lines will be available for such 
participation, which will be allocated on a first-come- first-
served basis.

4. The cost of the participant’s phone call will be for his/her own 
expense and will be billed separately by his/her own telephone 
service provider.

5. The company cannot guarantee there will not be a break in 
communication which is beyond the control of the company.

6. The participant acknowledges that the telecommunication lines 
are provided by a third party and indemnifies the company 
against any loss, injury, damage, penalty or claim arising in 
any way from the use or possession of the telecommunication 
lines, whether or not the problem is caused by any act or 
omission on the part of the participant or anyone else. In 
particular, but not exclusively, the participant acknowledges 
that he/she will have no claim against the company, whether for 
consequential damages or otherwise, arising from the use of 
the telecommunication lines or any defect in it or from total or 
partial failure of the telecommunication lines and connections 
linking the telecommunication lines to the AGM.

Purpose

The purpose of the AGM is for the business to be transacted:

a. The Board will present the annual financial statements of 
Chrometco for the financial year ended 29 February 2020 
(“2020 AFS”), including the reports of the independent 
auditors, the directors, the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee, the Social and Ethics Committee and the Audit 
Committee to shareholders;
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b. The shareholders will consider and, if deemed fit, pass, with 
or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions 
(“resolutions”) set out in this Notice (which are to be proposed 
at the AGM) in accordance with the requirements of the 
Memorandum of Incorporation of Chrometco (“MOI”), the 
Companies Act of South Africa, the JSE Listings Requirements, 
and to the extent applicable, in accordance with the principles 
and recommended practices set out in King IV Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 (“King IV”); and

c. Consider any and all matters of Chrometco as may lawfully be 
dealt with at the AGM.

Agenda 

Presentation of annual financial statements

The Integrated Annual Report of Chrometco for 2020, incorporating, 
inter alia, the directors’ report, the 2020 AFS, the report of 
the independent auditors, the report of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee, Social and Ethics Committee and the 
report of the Audit and Risk Committee were made available to 
shareholders on Tuesday, 18 August.

The 2020 AFS together with the report of the independent 
auditors and the reports of the directors will be presented to the 
shareholders at the AGM as required in terms of the Companies 
Act, read with the Companies Regulations, 2011.

Report from the Social and Ethics Committee

In accordance with Regulation 43(5)(c) of the Companies Act, the 
chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee or, in her absence, 
any member of the committee, will present the committee’s report 
to shareholders at the AGM.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, 
all of the ordinary resolutions relating to the business set out below.

With the exception of ordinary resolution number 4, the minimum 
percentage of voting rights required for each of the ordinary 
resolutions set out below to be adopted is more than 50% (fifty 
percent) of the voting rights exercised on each of the resolutions by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM.

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution 
number 4 must be passed by a 75% (seventy-five percent) majority 
of the votes cast in favour of the resolution by shareholders present 
or represented by proxy at the AGM.

ORDINARY BUSINESS

Ordinary resolution number 1: Appointment of 
auditors
Resolved that Moore Cape Town Inc be and are hereby re-
appointed as the independent auditors of the Company (the 
designated auditor being Mr Pierre Conradie) for the ensuing year, 
such auditors having been nominated by the Company’s Audit and 
Risk Committee. The Company’s Audit  and Risk Committee is 
further authorized to determine the auditor’s remuneration.

 Explanatory note

The Audit and Risk Committee assessed the performance and 
accreditation of the proposed independent auditor and the 
proposed individual registered auditor (i.e. the designated auditor) 
in terms of the applicable regulations and legislation and is 
satisfied with their independence, accreditation and performance. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is also satisfied that the audit firm 
is accredited to appear on the JSE List of Accredited Auditors 
and that the individual registered auditor of Chrometco does not 
appear on the JSE List of Disqualified Auditors. The Audit and 
Risk Committee confirms that independence assessments of 
the current audit firm and the designated individual auditor of 
Chrometco will continue to be conducted, and that the Audit and 
Risk Committee is cognisant of the timing of audit firm rotation in 
light of the mandatory audit firm rotation requirements issued by 
the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors effective on 1 April 
2023.

In terms of the Companies Act, Chrometco as a public listed 
company, must have its financial results audited and such auditor 
must be appointed or re-appointed each year at the AGM.

Ordinary resolution number 2: Appointment and 
re-election of Directors
Resolved to individually re-elect or elect the following Director 
(ordinary resolution 2.1 to be voted on and adopted as separate 
resolutions). The Board recommends the re-election or election (as 
applicable) of the following Director.

Ordinary resolution number 2.1 – 

Resolved that the re-election of L Jordaan as an independent 
non-executive director, who retires by rotation at this AGM, but 
being eligible to do so, offers himself for re-election, is hereby 
confirmed.

Explanatory note

In accordance with the MOI of Chrometco, one-third of all Directors 
are required to retire at the AGM. Accordingly, will retire and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election to serve as Directors of 
Chrometco.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee reviewed the 
composition of the Board against corporate governance, individual 
performance and diversity requirements and has recommended the 
re-election of the Director listed above.

The performance of the retiring Director has been assessed. 
Following such review, the Board recommends to shareholders 
the re-election of the above-mentioned Director, by way of a series 
of votes, each of which is on the candidacy of a single individual 
to fill a single vacancy, as required under Section 68(2) of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

A brief curriculum vitae of the Director is available on page 3 of this 
integrated annual report.

Ordinary resolution number 3: Appointment of 
Audit Committee members
Resolved to individually elect the following independent Non-
Executive Directors (ordinary resolution 3.1 to 3.3) of Chrometco 
as the Chairperson and members of the Audit Committee until 
conclusion of the next AGM of Chrometco. The Board recommends 
the appointment of these members.

Ordinary resolution number 3.1 – 
Resolved that the appointment of B Sibiya as a member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee, be and is hereby confirmed.

Ordinary resolution number 3.2 – 
Resolved that the appointment of L Jordaan as a member and 
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee, be and is hereby 
confirmed.

Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)
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Ordinary resolution number 3.3 – 
Resolved that the appointment of N Thomas as a member of the 
Audit and Risk Committee, be and is hereby confirmed.

Explanatory note

In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, an audit 
committee comprising at least 3 (three) members must be 
elected by shareholders at each annual general meeting of a public 
company. Further, in terms of regulation 42 of the Companies 
Regulations, 2011, at least one-third of the members of a public 
company’s audit committee members must have appropriate 
academic qualifications or experience in economics, law, corporate 
governance, finance, accounting, commerce, industry, public affairs 
or human resource management.

Having reviewed the composition of the Audit and Risk Committee 
and the qualifications, experience, expertise and independence 
of each of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee, the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee satisfied itself that the 
members of the Audit and Risk Committee continue to meet the 
requirements of the Companies Act and King IV.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee, accordingly, 
unanimously recommends and supports the appointment 
of B Sibiya, L Jordaan and N Thomas to the Audit and Risk 
Committee.

A brief curriculum vitae of each Director is available on page 3 of 
this integrated annual report.

Ordinary resolution number 4: General authority 
to issue shares for cash
Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the Company’s MOI, the 
JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act of South Africa, 
the mandate given to the Directors of the Company in terms of a 
general authority to issue shares for cash, as and when suitable 
opportunities arise, be renewed subject to the following conditions:

1. The general authority be valid until the Company’s next AGM, 
provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months 
from the date of the passing of this ordinary resolution 
(whichever period is shorter).

2. The allotment and issue of the shares must be made to public 
shareholders, as defined in the JSE Listing Requirements, and 
not to related parties.

3. The shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be 
of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, must 
be limited to such shares or rights that are convertible into a 
class already in issue.

4. The number of shares issued for cash, in aggregate in any 
one financial year, shall not exceed 50% (fifty percent) of the 
Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at the date of 
this Notice , provided that any ordinary shares to be issued 
pursuant to a rights issue (announced, irrevocable and fully 
underwritten) or an acquisition issue shall not diminish the 
number of ordinary shares that comprise the 50% of ordinary 
shares that may be issued in terms of this ordinary resolution. 
As at the date of this Notice g, 50% (fifty percent) of the 
Company’s issued ordinary share capital (net of treasury 
shares) amounts to 1 271 214 341 ordinary shares.

5. The maximum discount at which ordinary shares may be 
issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded 
price of those shares on the JSE over the 30 (thirty) business 
days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed 
between the Company and the party subscribing for the 
securities or any other price agreed to by the JSE. The JSE will 
be consulted for a ruling if the shares have not traded in such 
30-day period.

6.  After the Company has issued shares for cash which 
represent, on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 
5% (five percent) or more of the number of shares in 
issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an 
announcement containing full details of the issue (including 
the number of shares issued, the average discount to the 
weighted average traded price of the shares over the 30 
(thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the 
issue is agreed in writing between the issuer and the party 
subscribing for the shares and the effect of the issue on 
net asset value, net tangible asset value, earnings and headline 
earnings per share), or any other announcements that may be 
required in such regard in terms of the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE which may be applicable from time to time. For 
listed entities wishing to issue shares for cash (other than 
issues by way of rights offers, in consideration for acquisitions 
and/or to share incentive schemes (which schemes have 
been duly approved by the JSE and by the shareholders of 
the company)), it is necessary for the Board of the Company 
to obtain the prior authority of the shareholders in accordance 
with the JSE Listings Requirements and the MOI of the 
Company.

Explanatory note

Accordingly, the reason for ordinary resolution number 4 is to obtain 
a general authority from shareholders to issue shares for cash in 
compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements and the MOI of the 
Company.

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a 75% (seventy-five 
percent) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or 
represented by proxy at the AGM, must be cast in favour of ordinary 
resolution number 4 for it to be approved.

Ordinary resolution number 5: Non-binding 
advisory vote on the Chrometco remuneration 
policy and implementation report
Ordinary resolution 5.1 –
The remuneration policy and the implementation report, as set out 
on pages 22 to 23, of this annual report will be tabled for separate 
non-binding advisory votes by shareholders at the Company’s 2019 
annual general meeting. The Board will engage with shareholders 
in the event of a 25% or more dissenting vote on the remuneration 
policy or implementation report (or both). The key purpose of such 
an engagement process is to ascertain the reasons for dissenting 
votes, and where legitimate and reasonable concerns are raised to 
address such concerns. This may include review and amendment to 
the remuneration policy or merely a clarification of the remuneration 
policy.

Ordinary resolution 5.2 –
Resolved that as a non-binding advisory vote that, the 
implementation report, as set out on pages 13 and 14 of this annual 
report. 

Explanatory note

In terms of King IV read with the JSE Listings Requirements, the 
Company’s remuneration policy and implementation report must 
each be tabled to shareholders for a non binding advisory vote 
at each AGM of the Company. These non-binding advisory votes 
enable shareholders to express their views on the Company’s 
remuneration policy and on the manner in which the Company 
implements the remuneration policy.

The non-binding resolutions are of an advisory nature only 
and failure to pass these resolutions will not have any legal 
consequences relating to existing arrangements.

Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)
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The Board will take the outcome of each of the non-binding 
advisory votes in consideration when considering Chrometco’s 
future remuneration policy and remuneration implementation report.

Should 25% (twenty five percent) or more of the votes exercised 
on these resolutions be cast against either or both of these 
non-binding resolutions, Chrometco undertakes to engage with 
the dissenting shareholders as to the reasons therefore and 
take appropriate action to address issues raised as envisaged in the 
King IV and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Ordinary resolution number 6: Authority to sign 
all documents required
Resolved that, subject to the passing of ordinary resolutions 
numbers 1 – 4 and special resolutions numbers 1 – 4, any Director 
of the Company or the Company Secretary be and is hereby 
authorised to sign all documents and perform all acts which may 
be required to give effect to such ordinary resolutions numbers 
1 – 4 and special resolutions numbers 1 – 4 passed at the AGM; 
hereby ratifying and confirming all such things already done and 
documentation already signed. In order for this ordinary resolution 
to be adopted, it must be supported by more than 50% (fifty 
percent) of the votes cast by shareholders present or represented 
by proxy at this meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, 
all of the special resolutions relating to the business set out below. 
At least 75% (seventy five percent) of the voting rights exercised 
on each individual resolution must be exercised in favour of those 
resolutions in order for it to be validly adopted.

Special resolution number 1: General authority 
to repurchase shares
Resolved, in terms of the MOI of the Company (or one of its 
subsidiaries), the JSE Listings Requirements and sections 46 and 
48 of the Companies Act of South Africa, that the Directors of the 
Company be authorised, by way of a general authority, until this 
authority lapses at the next AGM of the Company, provided that 
it shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of 
passing of this special resolution (whichever period is the shorter), 
to acquire the Company’s own shares, upon such terms and 
conditions and in such amounts as the Directors may from time to 
time decide, subject to the following terms and conditions:

1. Any repurchase of securities must be effected through the 
order book operated by the JSE trading system and done 
without any prior understanding or arrangement between the 
Company and the counter-party.

2. The repurchase is authorised by the Company’s MOI.

3. At any point in time, the Company may only appoint one agent 
to effect any repurchases on its behalf.

4. The number of shares which may be repurchased pursuant to 
this authority in any financial year may not, in the aggregate, 
exceed 20% (twenty percent) of the Company’s issued share 
capital.

5. Repurchases of shares may not be made at a price greater 
than 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of the 
market value of the securities for the 5 (five) business days 
immediately preceding the date on which the transaction was 
effected.

6. Repurchases may not be undertaken by the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries during a prohibited period, as defined in the 
JSE Listings Requirements, unless a repurchase programme 
is in place where the dates and quantities of securities to 
be repurchased during the relevant period are fixed, which 
programme has been submitted to the JSE in writing and 
executed by an independent third party.

7. After the Company has acquired shares which constitute, on 
a cumulative basis, 3% (three percent) of the initial number of 
shares in issue (at the time that the authority from shareholders 
for the repurchase is granted) of the relevant class of securities 
and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial 
number of that class acquired thereafter, the Company shall 
publish an announcement containing full details of such 
repurchase.

8. The Board of Directors have passed a resolution authorising 
the repurchase and that the Company has passed the solvency 
and liquidity test contained in Section 4 of the Companies Act, 
and that since the test was done, there have been no material 
changes to the financial position of the Company. The reason 
for and effect of special resolution number 1 is to extend the 
general authority given to the Directors of the Company or any 
subsidiary of the Company, in terms of the Companies Act 
and the JSE Listings Requirements, for the acquisition by the 
Company or its subsidiaries of the Company’s securities which 
authority shall be used at the Directors’ discretion during the 
course of the period authorised.

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the Directors 
record that:

1. They have no specific intention to repurchase shares, but 
would utilise the renewed general authority to repurchase 
securities to serve shareholders’ interests, as and when 
suitable opportunities present themselves, which opportunities 
may require expeditious and immediate action.

2. The Directors, after considering the effect of the maximum 
number of securities which may be repurchased pursuant to 
the general authority, are of the opinion that, for a period of 12 
(twelve) months after the date of this Notice of AGM:

a. the Company and the Group will be able to pay their debts in 
the ordinary course of business;

b. the consolidated assets of the Company and of the Group will 
be in excess of the liabilities of the Company and the Group; 
the assets and liabilities being recognized and measured in 
accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest 
audited Group annual financial statements; the share capital 
and reserves of the Company and of the Group are adequate 
for ordinary business purposes; and

c. the working capital of the Company and the Group will be 
adequate for ordinary business purposes.

Disclosures required in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE 
Listings Requirements

The following additional information, some of which may appear 
elsewhere in this annual report, is provided in terms of the JSE 
Listings Requirements for purposes of special resolution number 1:

Major shareholders – note 40. 

Company’s share capital – note 10.
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The Directors, whose names are given on page 3 of this annual 
report, collectively and individually, accept full responsibility for 
the accuracy of the information pertaining to special resolution 
number 1 and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any 
statement false or misleading and that all reasonable enquiries to 
ascertain such facts have been made and that the aforementioned 
special resolution contains all the information required by the JSE.

Material change

Other than the facts and developments reported on in this annual 
report, there have been no material changes in the financial or 
trading position of the Company or its subsidiaries since the 
Company’s financial year-end and the signature date of this annual 
report.

Explanatory note

The purpose of this special resolution number 1 is to obtain a 
general authority for, and to authorise, Chrometco and/or its 
subsidiaries, by way of a general authority in terms of the JSE 
Listings Requirements and the Companies Act of South Africa, to 
acquire Chrometco issued ordinary shares which general authority 
shall be valid until the earlier of the next annual general meeting of 
Chrometco or the variation or revocation of such general authority 
by special resolution by any subsequent general meeting of 
Chrometco, provided that the general authority shall not extend 
beyond 15 (fifteen) months of the date of this AGM.

The effect of the passing of this special resolution will be to 
authorise Chrometco and/or its subsidiaries to acquire the issued 
ordinary shares in Chrometco. It is the intention of the Board to 
use such authority should prevailing circumstances (including the 
financial position of the Company, tax dispensations and market 
conditions) in the opinion of the Board warrant it. In this regard, the 
Board will take into account, inter alia, an appropriate capitalization 
structure for Chrometco, the long-term cash needs of Chrometco 
and the best interest of Chrometco.

Special resolution number 2: Approval of 
Directors’ remuneration
Resolved that, in terms of Section 66(9) of the Companies Act 
of South Africa, the Company be authorised to pay a maximum 
amount of remuneration to its non-Executive Directors for their 
services as Directors as listed below:

 

Proposed fees for 
the year ended 

28 February 2021 per 
meeting)

Board Chairman R41 667/month

Audit Committee Chairman R28 000/month

Social and Ethics Committee Chairman R25 000/month

Explanatory note

The reason and effect for special resolution number 2 is to obtain 
shareholder approval, by way of a special resolution, for Non- 
Executive Directors’ remuneration for their services as directors in 
compliance with the Companies Act of South Africa. 

It is noted that the remuneration payable to Directors in their 
capacities as such does not include salaries and other benefits 
payable to Directors in other capacities.

Special resolution number 3: Inter-company 
financial assistance
Resolved, in terms of Section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act 
of South Africa, as a general approval, that the Board be and is 
hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct 
or indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in Section 45(1) of the Companies 
Act) that the Board may deem fit to any company or corporation 
that is related or inter-related (“related” or “inter-related” will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in Section 2 of the Companies 
Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts 
that the Board may determine, provided that the aforementioned 
approval shall be valid until the date of the next AGM of the 
Company.

Explanatory note

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant 
the Directors of the Company the authority, until the next AGM of 
the Company, to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to 
any company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the 
Company. This means that the Company is, inter alia, authorised 
to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee the debt of its 
subsidiaries.

Notifications

Shareholders are hereby notified in terms of Section 45(5) of the 
Companies Act of South Africa that the Board has passed the same 
resolution to take effect on the passing of special resolution number 
3 by shareholders and that the Board is satisfied that the Company 
meets the solvency and liquidity test.

Special resolution number 4: Financial 
assistance for the subscription or purchase of 
shares in the company or in a related or inter-
related company
Resolved, in terms of Section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act 
of South Africa, as a general approval, that the Board be and is 
hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct 
or indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in Sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the 
Companies Act) that the Board may deem fit to any company or 
corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company (“related” 
or “inter-related” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in 
Section 2 of the Companies Act), on the terms and conditions and 
for amounts that the Board may determine for the purpose of, or 
in connection with the subscription of any option, or any shares 
or other securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a 
related or inter-related company or corporation, or for the purchase 
of any shares or securities of the Company or a related or inter-
related company or corporation, provided that the aforementioned 
approval shall be valid until the date of the next AGM of the 
Company.

Explanatory note

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 4 is to grant 
the Directors the authority, until the next AGM of the Company, 
to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation 
which is related or inter-related to the Company for the purpose 
of, or in connection with, the subscription or purchase of options, 
shares or other securities in the Company or any related or inter-
related company or corporation. This means that the Company 
is authorised, inter alia, to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to 
guarantee and furnish security for the debt of its subsidiaries where 
any such financial assistance is directly or indirectly related to a 
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party subscribing for options, shares or securities in the Company 
or its subsidiaries. The minimum percentage of voting rights that 
is required for this resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy-five 
percent) of the voting rights to be cast in favour of the resolution.

The Company has no immediate plans to use this authority and 
is simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence and good 
corporate governance should the unforeseen need arise to use the 
authority. In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of Sections 44 
and 45 of the Companies Act of South Africa, the Directors of the 
Company confirm that the Board will satisfy itself, after considering 
all reasonably foreseeable financial circumstances of the Company, 
that immediately after providing any financial assistance as 
contemplated in special resolutions numbers 3 and 4 above:

• the assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal or exceed 
the liabilities of the Company (fairly valued) (taking into 
consideration the reasonably foreseeable contingent assets and 
liabilities of the Company);

• the Company will be able to pay its debts as they become due 
in the ordinary course of business for a period of 12 (twelve) 
months;

• the terms under which any financial assistance is proposed to 
be provided, will be fair and reasonable to the Company; and

• all relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating to the 
granting of financial assistance by the Company as contained in 
the Company’s MOI have been met.

Other business

To transact such other business as may be transacted at an 
AGM or raised by shareholders with or without advance notice to 
Chrometco.

By order of the Board

Acorim Pty Ltd 
Company Secretary 

Johannesburg

18 August 2020
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Form of Proxy 
CHROMETCO LIMITED  
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/026265/06) 
Share code: CMO ISIN: ZAE000070249
(“Chrometco” or “the Company”)

For use by the holders of the Company’s certificated ordinary shares (“certificated shareholder”) and/or dematerialised ordinary shareholders whose 
shares are held through a CSDP or broker and who have selected own name registration (“own name dematerialised shareholders”) at the annual 
general meeting of the Company to be held in the boardroom, at Chrometco (Pty) Ltd, Unit 25 Sunninghill Office Park, Sunninghill, Johannesburg on 
Friday, 18 September at 10:00 or at any adjournment thereof. 

Not for the use by holders of the Company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who are not own name dematerialised shareholders. Such shareholders 
must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the annual general meeting (AGM) and request that they be issued 
with the necessary Letter of Representation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to 
attend the AGM in order for the CSDP or broker to vote thereat in accordance with their instructions.

I/We (please print full names)

of (address) 

being the holder(s) of NUMBER    ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint: 

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. the Chairman of the annual general meeting, 

as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held for the purpose of considering 
and, if deemed fit, passing the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or 
against and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the Company registered in my/our name/s in 
accordance with the following instructions:

Please indicate with an ”X” the appropriate space below how you wish your votes to be cast unless otherwise instructed my/our proxy may vote 
as he/she thinks fit. 

  IN FAVOUR AGAINST ABSTAIN

ORDINARY BUSINESS      

1. To appoint Moore Cape Town Incorporated as the independent auditors of the Company (the 
designated auditor being Mr P.J. Conradie)      

2. (a) To ratify and re-elect Mr B Sibiya as a Director      

3. (a) To appoint Mr L Jordaan as a member of the Audit Committee      

(b) To appoint Mr B Sibiya as a member of the Audit Committee      

(c) To appoint Mrs N Thomas as a member of the Audit Committee      

4. General authority to issue shares for cash      

5. 5.1 Non-binding advisory vote on the Chrometco remuneration policy      

5.2 Non-binding advisory vote on the Chrometco implementation report      

6. Authority to sign all documents required      

SPECIAL BUSINESS      

1. General authority to repurchase shares      

2. Approval of directors’ remuneration      

3. Inter-company financial assistance      

4. Financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of shares in the Company or a related or 
inter-related company

     

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote in his stead. A proxy so 
appointed need not be a shareholder of the Company. 

Signed at on 2020

Signature

Assisted by (if applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse.
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Notes to Form of Proxy
1. This form of proxy is to be completed only by those shareholders who are:

• holding shares in certificated form; or

• recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their “own-name”.

2. A shareholder may insert the name or names of two alternative proxies of his choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the 
Chairperson of the AGM”. The person whose name appears first on this form of proxy and who is present at the AGM will be entitled to 
act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. Any such proxy, who need not be a shareholder of the Company, is entitled 
to attend, speak and vote on behalf of such shareholder.

3. A proxy is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each share held. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy 
must be indicated in the appropriate space.

4. If a shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from 
voting or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution/s or any amendment/s which may be properly put before 
the AGM be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he thinks fit. Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted to or faxed to the 
transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 (fax number: 
+27 11 688 5238 or  email: proxy@computershare.co.za) to reach the transfer secretaries by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 
16 September 2020.

5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached 
to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the Chairperson of the AGM.

6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy does not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM and speaking and 
voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms of this form of proxy.

7. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

8. The Chairperson of the annual general meeting may accept or reject any form of proxy, which is completed and/or received, other than 
in accordance with these notes, provided that the Chairperson shall not accept a proxy unless the Chairperson is satisfied as to the 
manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

9. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares must inform their CSDP or broker of their intention to attend the Annual 
General Meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary Letter of Representation to attend the 
Annual General Meeting or provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the
 AGM in person but wish to be represented thereat. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholder 
and his CSDP or broker.

10. Please note that, in terms of section 58(3) of the Companies Act:

• the appointment of a proxy is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise. If the 
appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing, or 
making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the 
Company. The revocation will take effect on the later of: (i) the date stated in the revocation instrument or (ii) the date on which the 
revocation instrument was delivered to the proxy and the Company.

• a proxy may delegate his authority to act on your behalf to another person, subject to any restriction set out in this form of proxy.

• a proxy must be delivered to the Company, or to the transfer secretaries of the Company, namely Computershare Investor Services 
Pty Ltd, before your proxy exercises any of your rights as a shareholder at the AGM.

11. The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the AGM is Tuesday, 8 September 2020.

12. The record date in order to vote at the AGM is Friday, 7 August 2020.





www.chrometco.co.za


